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Wednesday, May 28, 2008 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1

 --- Upon commencing at 9:07 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  Today is day 12 of the Ontario Energy Board's hearing EB-2007-0050.  This hearing is in regard to Hydro One's application for a leave to construct a transmission line between the Bruce Power facility and the Milton switching station and to make modifications to certain transmission stations.


Today's hearing is for cross-examination of Hydro One witness panel in relation to Hydro One evidence filed with the Board on and after May 15th.


To give you an outline of today's schedule, which is a bit unusual, we will go from 9 o'clock this morning until 12 o'clock, with a brief break.  We must break at 12 o'clock, and we will resume at 2:30 and continue until we have completed with this witness panel.


Are there any preliminary matters?  Mr. Nettleton.

Preliminary matters:


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.  Good morning, Madam Chair, Panel Members.


The filing that Hydro One made on May 21st, which was made by Mr. MacDonald under his cover letter, included several documents, and I am wondering, Madam Chair, if that could be marked as an exhibit.  


I have discussed it with my friend, Mr. Klippenstein.  I think, just for ease of reference, it would be easier if that was marked.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will do that, Mr. Nettleton.


MR. MILLAR:  That's the letter dated May 21st, and it will be Exhibit K12.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K12.1:  LETTER DATED MAY 21, 2008 FROM HYDRO ONE, WITH ATTACHMENTS.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  To be clear, that includes all of the attachments to that letter that was in the e-mail, which includes the final letter of the...


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, that's fine.


MR. NETTLETON:  The final letter addressed to Mr. Sabiston from the Central Main Power Company of the NPCC sub task force by David Conway.  That letter was dated May 16th.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.  Any other matters, Mr. Nettleton?


MR. NETTLETON:  The only other matter, Madam Chair, and it is just to confirm the words that you articulated this morning, that this panel is here to speak to this exhibit and this exhibit only.  That's my understanding, and questions relating to this panel in cross-examination is in respect of this exhibit.


Is that my understanding?


MS. NOWINA:  That's correct, Mr. Nettleton, I guess in addition to the letter that was submitted on the 15th.


MR. NETTLETON:  Correct.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Have the intervenors determined who will begin cross-examination?


MR. ROSS:  I am lucky number one, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Ross, go ahead.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 4


John Sabiston; Previously sworn


John Falvo; Previously sworn
Cross-examination by Mr. Ross:


MR. ROSS:  Good morning, Board members.  Good morning, panel.


MR. SABISTON:  Good morning.


MR. ROSS:  I just want to start off with some questions about process.


From reading the evidence that was just filed, I note that the e-mail is dated January 24th, 2007.  Is that about an accurate start time for this modification, discussion in the group?


MR. SABISTON:  You're referring to an e-mail from Mr. Peter Wong?


MR. ROSS:  Correct.


MR. SABISTON:  The January 24th e-mail is making the application to the IESO for a system impact assessment for the modifications.


MR. ROSS:  When did the planning process for the modifications commence?


MR. SABISTON:  The modifications that are detailed in this application are in fact -- have their root in a recommendation other than IESO SIA report on the series compensation.


I believe that that SIA report has been previously filed as a response to one of Mr. Pappas's interrogatories.  That would be Exhibit C, tab 4, schedule 1, attachment 2.


That's really when the planning process for these modifications began.


On the reference document that -- the SIA report that I just spoke about, on page 34, it gives the details of the special protection system modifications required for the Bruce special protection system.  


So those modifications were given to our engineering group, and the result was this SIA application to the IESO on January 24th, 2007.


MR. ROSS:  The purpose behind the Bruce special protection system modifications application is to take into consideration the increased generation from wind, as well as the refurbishment of the two units at the Bruce; correct?


MR. SABISTON:  Correct, and in the absence of a -- of the new transmission line.


MR. ROSS:  So the modifications do contemplate the eventuality that the application for the transmission line does not succeed?


MR. SABISTON:  Correct.


MR. ROSS:  So the protection system would be -- if approved, would be sufficient to modulate the system in a contingency with the new generation, but without the new 500 transmission line?


MR. FALVO:  Sorry, which new generation are you talking about?


MR. ROSS:  All of it.


MR. FALVO:  Sorry.  I wouldn't say that.  I think the -- what we assessed was the performance of the special protection system for the period before the new line is contemplated.  We're saying this is what we know and this is what we need as of right now.  We're not guaranteeing we don't need anything else going into the future, depending on what the generation level will be.


MR. ROSS:  But the presumptions you made were based on what we see coming back into service and what we see going into service for wind; correct?


MR. FALVO:  We made those based on the committed wind in the two units.


MR. ROSS:  In answering that question, are you reflecting back on the series capacitors document that we were just talking about a moment ago?


MR. FALVO:  Well, the series capacitors document is really the one that first identified the existing special protection system would need some enhancements to carry us through an interim period.


MR. ROSS:  And correct me if I'm wrong, but I recall the assumption for that being 925 megawatts of wind.


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  That's more than the actual committed wind then, isn't it?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  So it's not in fact the committed wind.  It is committed wind and another 225 megawatts of proposed?


MR. FALVO:  That report concluded that the series capacitor plan was good enough to deliver seven Bruce units and the committed wind that was understood at that time, which is -- 2006 was when that report -- I think when that report got completed.


So we are not talking about being able to do everything that the OPA would like to deliver, or the special protection system doesn't solve everything.  It is just one of the interim measures, and those are not alternatives to a new line.  They're just there to manage the interim period.  


That's why they're called "interim".


MR. ROSS:  May I just have the Board's indulgence for one moment?

MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Ross.

MR. ROSS:  Just going back for a moment to the series capacitors study we were just talking about, upon which this BSPS modification is somewhat reliant, at page 8 of that document which is the SIA report 2005, 200, which is at tab, or Exhibit C, tab 4, schedule 1, appendix 2, I believe there are assumptions including eight units and 925 megawatts of wind generation.  Would you agree with that?

MR. FALVO:  Sorry, which page are you referring to?

MR. ROSS:  Eight.

MR. FALVO:  That's an assumption.  That is not a conclusion.  We know there will be eight units.  So we looked at that.

MR. ROSS:  The assumption was the number of units, the conclusion of the bullet points that are reflected below with regards to the amount of series compensation that would be required in order to make that possible; wouldn't you agree?

MR. FALVO:  With eight units and no wind turbine generation.

MR. ROSS:  No.  Eight units, 925 megawatts of wind generation, no new facilities, the minimum amount of series comp would need to be increased to 40 percent on Bruce to Longwood, and 30 percent Longwood to Nanticoke.  Then it says what would happen if there was a new 500 kV line.

So the conclusion there is, with the eight units and the 925 megs of wind, you would need 40 and 30 compensation on the two lines.  That's a conclusion.

MR. FALVO:  That describes the minimum series compensation that would be required to manage thermal overloads.

MR. ROSS:  And maintain transient stability.

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. ROSS:  Okay, thank you.

I believe that this, I will just refer to it as the BSPS modification.  I believe that Pollution Probe made a request for disclosure of SPS information in their interrogatories, and the response was that everything was 20 years plus.

I am just curious as to whoever answered the interrogatory, their interpretation of the question, because I am sure there was no malfeasance; but why it wasn't disclosed when it clearly was commenced in contemplation in 2005, well before the interrogatory was asked, I believe, in March?


MR. NETTLETON:  Maybe, Mr. Ross, you could help direct the witnesses to the particular interrogatory you're speaking of.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross, do you know the interrogatory?

MR. ROSS:  No, I don't know the specific interrogatory.  Perhaps I will leave it for Mr. Klippenstein, and we can try and track it down in between my questioning and his.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. ROSS:  It would be interesting if the panel is aware of the specific interrogatory.

MS. NOWINA:  Unless Mr. Klippenstein knows what it is now.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I don't have that handy.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So perhaps you can find it at break, then someone else can answer this.

MR. ROSS:  Unless the panel is familiar with the interrogatory I am referring to?

MR. SABISTON:  There are 400 and some odd interrogatories.

MR. ROSS:  Thank you.

Page 20 of the evidence just filed, which is the SIA report for proposed enhancement of the Bruce SPS, paragraph 4 after the bulleted list, there is a quote that commences:

"Once this capability becomes available -–"

and this capability is referring to the installation, and this is my editorial here.  This capability refers to the installation of the SPS on the lines not currently covered by the existing SPS, and then I go back to the quote.
"-- it should then be possible to reprepare the system."

What does "reprepare" mean?

MR. FALVO:  Sorry.  Can you help me find the page you're referring to?

MR. ROSS:  Sure, it's in your new evidence just filed today, page 20 of that new evidence.

MS. NOWINA:  Page 20 of the SIA report in that evidence?

MR. ROSS:  I believe it is page 20 in the aggregate.  I was just referring from the pages on the documents e-mailed.

MR. FALVO:  Okay.  Is that the third paragraph from the bottom on that page, the proposed enhancements?  
"Once this... reprepare the system."

Reliability criteria requires that following a contingency, the grid must be operated such that within 30 minutes, it is ready to withstand the next criteria contingency.

So we talk about that time period and that circumstance as "repreparing".  In day-to-day operations you must always be able to withstand the first contingency, and be ready for the next one within 30 minutes.  You are given essentially a 30-minute grace period following a contingency, to be able to withstand the next one.

MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  The paragraph then concludes:

"-- should then be possible to reprepare the system without having to constrain off generation and interrupt load precontingency."

So would this mean that the transmission system then is brought up to full transmission capacity, again, in that half an hour?

MR. FALVO:  No.  It means that the system would be able to be redispatched and the special protection system armed to be able to withstand the next contingency --

MR. ROSS:  So I --

MR. FALVO:  -- without having to curtail load.

MR. ROSS:  So I take that to mean that once this modified system is in place and armed, the transmission capacity will be sufficient to transfer generation precontingency; is that correct?

MR. FALVO:  No, it will be sufficient to be able to withstand the next contingency without having to curtail load.  It will require redispatch of the system, which could include generation reduction and redispatch, and just a readjustment of the system, in general.

MR. ROSS:  So does "constrain off generation" and "generation rejection" mean the same thing?

MR. FALVO:  No.

MR. ROSS:  What's "constrain off generation" mean?

MR. FALVO:  No, I'm sorry.  "Constraining off" would mean to redispatch generation.

MR. ROSS:  To reject generation?

MR. FALVO:  No, to redispatch it.

MR. ROSS:  Redispatch?  Can you help me with that?

MR. FALVO:  It means to adjust it to different levels so that the conditions on the system are such that the contingency can be withstood.

MR. ROSS:  So to "reject" is to shut off and to "constrain-off" is to turn down?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.  Essentially, rejection is an instantaneous thing.

MR. ROSS:  Page 22 of the evidence, number 5, "future expansion of the Bruce SPS".
The second line, basically it says even with the addition of the new line, quote:

"The Bruce SPS will need to be further enhanced to recognize contingencies involving the circuits of the new line..."


My question then is:  This would result in a more, not less, robust SPS with the addition of the new line?


MR. FALVO:  It would result in an SPS that has more functionality.


MR. ROSS:  And more functionality would be an increased complexity?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you.  Page 27, the letter from Central Green Power system -- Central Maine, excuse me, Power system, in the first paragraph:

"The TFSS agrees that this operation of this SPS is not significant.  However, failure of this SPS to operate when required may have inter-area consequences and, as a result, are suggesting the SPS is a Type I."


I have a pre and post question here.  The SPS currently is a Type I SPS; correct?


MR. SABISTON:  That's right.


MR. ROSS:  The SPS proposed in the interim and near-term measures to deal with that period of time is a Type I SPS; correct?


MR. FALVO:  That's right.


MR. ROSS:  And the SPS that will be required, even if the 500 kV line is approved and built, will be a Type I SPS; correct?


MR. FALVO:  That's right.


MR. ROSS:  So we're not decreasing the complexity or magnitude or importance of the SPS by building this new 500 kV line?


MR. FALVO:  When we talk about the SPS continuing, following the new line, it is there to deal with multiple outages.  The SPS would be an insurance package, only, which would mean we would contemplate using it in a much less complicated way and much less frequently than we're talking about now.


MR. ROSS:  What percent of the time is the SPS currently armed?


MR. FALVO:  That's in one of the Board Staff interrogatories.  There's a graph there, I think, in 2006.  It's in the order of 60 percent of the time.


MR. ROSS:  And the anticipated arming in the instance the 500 kV is not built?


MR. FALVO:  In our filing to NPCC, we gave a conservative estimate of -- I think it said 75 percent, which is a very simple and conservative estimate.


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me, Mr. Falvo.  When you say "conservative", does that mean that 75 percent is high to be conservative or low?


MR. FALVO:  In my opinion, it would be low.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. ROSS:  Just dealing with that 75 percent and whether 75 is high or low, when planning a system of this type, a protection system, wouldn't the estimate usually be high?  It would seem counter-intuitive to lowball a number like this, wouldn't it?


MR. FALVO:  We're trying to give them an indication of the risk and exposure, and we're saying we think it is at least going to be that frequent.


MR. ROSS:  It doesn't say "at least".  It says "expected to be armed about 75 percent of the time".


MR. FALVO:  That is Mr. Conroy's letter.


MR. ROSS:  And you would base that letter on your analysis?


MR. FALVO:  He wrote that following our presentation to...


MR. ROSS:  On page 28, in the first paragraph, we're talking about undampened oscillations between Ontario and New York.  Is this a reference to SSR?


MR. FALVO:  No.


MR. ROSS:  Tell me about undampened oscillations and the concern therefrom.


MR. FALVO:  That paragraph is a very brief summary of really the discussion and presentation we had that describes what we expect would happen if the protection -- if the special protection system would fail to operate.


In that case, we would expect all of the Bruce units to lose synchronism and trip.  Many circuits -- we would expect many circuits to also trip on either overloads or on very large-scale power oscillations, which we have seen in the 2003 blackout, and we would expect to see a widespread blackout.


MR. ROSS:  So the cascade that came from the US into Canada, that's sort of what we're talking about in the instance of a total SPS failure?


MR. FALVO:  Well, that one started in the US and spread in a certain direction.  This would start in Ontario, and simulations are only good so far.  We have a pretty good indication of what to expect.  We're not sure how far it would go and where it would stop, but I would guess it wouldn't necessarily just stop in Ontario.


MR. ROSS:  And would a failure of the SPS system currently have a similar effect?


MR. FALVO:  That's one of the reasons why it is a Type I.  There is less generation operating, so it might not be as bad.  That would depend on circumstances.


MR. ROSS:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Who plans to go next?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think I can, Madam Chair.  Mr. Ross has covered some of my materials, so I think I will be shorter than I expected.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.

Cross-examination by Mr. Klippenstein:


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Members of the witness panel, if you have available to you the system impact assessment report on series caps that was referred to, the final version dated April 11th, 2006?  Do you have that available?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  If you could turn to page -- I guess it is the executive summary page, which doesn't have a page number.


Do you have that?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And near the bottom of the page, there's a heading called "Generation Scenarios".


MR. FALVO:  Section 2.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.  And the first three sentences read:

"Although Bruce units 1 and 2 are scheduled to be returned to service during 2009, other units at the Bruce complex are scheduled to be removed from service for maintenance.  Consequently, during the period between April 2009 and the end of 2011, a maximum of only seven Bruce units are expected to be operational.  Beyond December 2011, there are expected to be extended periods when all eight Bruce units will be in service."


Now, that appears to have been the estimate as of April 2006.  Given what's happened to your knowledge since then, in terms of Bruce maintenance and return of service of Bruce units 1 and 2, is it still your expectation that eight Bruce units will be in service as of December 2011?


MR. FALVO:  I am not sure that I have the latest schedule for the refurbishments, because that's what would be affecting that period.

I believe there is, there's a potential for a period of eight units before 2011, but that schedule is not firm, as far as I know.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  As I understand, there have been some schedule delays in refurbishment of some of the units beyond public, stated schedules, or am I -- is that correct?

MR. FALVO:  I don't have any better dates than late 2009, early 2010.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  The letter of May 15th from Mr. Conroy -- sorry, May 16th.  Do you have that before you?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  It says in the first paragraph that:
"The TFSS therefore recommends approval of this modified SPS as Type I."

Then in the next two paragraphs, it mentions some concerns.  Do you see that?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I take it this May 16th letter was based on the application materials, including the April 11, 2006 system impact assessments report.  Is that fair?

MR. FALVO:  They probably based it mostly on the material that was submitted for their meeting and the discussion that they had during the meeting.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  Do you know if there was, in relation to these concerns, any materials before the committee that discussed the eventual out of service or decommissioning, end of life timing of Bruce A units?  In other words, the reduction in generation from Bruce as Bruce A units came to the end of their life?

MR. FALVO:  Do you mean Bruce B units?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. FALVO:  I wasn't at the meeting, so I can't say for sure, but I would not expect them to be talking about that.  That would be out past even the potential in-service date for the new line.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  So you don't know if the committee considered a longer time scenario in which units at B are decommissioned and not replaced and generation falls off, and how that may have been, or not, considered by the committee in relation to this application?

MR. FALVO:  Well, as I said, I wasn't there.  But I am normally a member of that committee, and their issue would be how to classify it now and how to address the concerns that they anticipate in the short-term.  And that's why they are talking about concerns that -- in looking at semi-annual information and updates.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And the list of concerns are somewhat technical and beyond me, but would it be fair to say that some of those concerns would, in the longer term, be somewhat alleviated when Bruce units are eventually decommissioned, if you project that forward?

MR. SABISTON:  Mr. Klippenstein, the OPA generation forecast shows that the possible retirement date of the Bruce B units is in the timeframe of approximately 2019.

This committee would not have considered something happening more than 10 years in the future to mitigate their concerns.  This committee would be more concerned about getting out to that -- being able to survive the next one, two, three, four, five years.  They would not be focussed on something that may or may not happen more than 10 years in the future.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Okay.  I gave notice of a document that I might ask you questions about, and that's a CBC news item of May 26th, 2008, in relation to the decision on location of the new nuclear reactors.  And I would like to ask you a couple of questions about that, but my friend has reached for his microphone.

MS. NOWINA:  We don't have it, Mr. Klippenstein.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I have made copies available.

MR. MILLAR:  We have copies here, Madam Chair, and unless there are any objections, I will give it an exhibit number, K12.2, and it's the --

MS. NOWINA:  I am waiting to hear from Mr. Nettleton.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I'm sorry --

MR. NETTLETON:  There is going to be an objection.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, well, my mistake.  Go ahead.

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, the material that my friend is referring to is, as he stated, a CBC news article, that is an article reporting upon the Ontario Energy Minister, Gerry Phillips' expectation to announce next months the location of new nuclear planned -- new nuclear reactors planned for the province.

As I indicated with you, and wanted some guidance from you at the outset, this panel is here to discuss this specific exhibit.  It strikes me that the newspaper article that my friend is wanting to discuss with this panel is not related to generation rejection.  It's not related to the application that was made to the NPCC.

Mr. Sabiston has now answered and provided a fulsome answer to say what he believes was the purpose and the scope and the duration of the time period that the NPCC was considering, i.e. in the short-term.

I am having grave difficulty understanding how this newspaper (sic) article, reporting upon discussions of the Energy Minister, have anything to do with the material and the subject matter that this witness panel is here to speak to.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Klippenstein, I did set the scope as we began this morning.  Can you make a connection for me?

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Madam Chair, I am just reflecting on Mr. Sabiston's answers, and I think I can skip over this.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  And not conceding for a moment that my friend's arguments convinced me, but I --

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's go ahead.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  I think, since Mr. Ross covered some of the questions I had, that's probably all of my questions this morning.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.  Who is next?  Mr. Pape, are you ready to proceed?

MR. PAPE:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Your microphone, Mr. Pape.

MS. NOWINA:  Can the witness panel see Mr. Pape?

MR. FALVO:  I can from here.

MR. SABISTON:  I can.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  You can't, can you, Mr. Falvo?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. PAPE:  You're okay?

MR. FALVO:  We're okay, I think.
Cross-examination by Mr. Pape:


MR. PAPE:  Good morning.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  

MR. PAPE:  My apologies for being late this morning, Madam Chair.

Mr. Sabiston and Mr. Falvo, I first want to be 
clear -- want to get some clarification on the features of the SPS modification or the modified SPS, which is the subject of the application that is reflected in these documents that were introduced at our last hearing.


There seem to be some differences between the application itself, which is found in Exhibit K10.4, and the two letters that were introduced.  Actually, I see now that there are three letters.


There are three letters from Mr. Conroy.  One is in 10.3, and it's called "Draft for TFSS review", and one is in 10 -- sorry, that first one is dated May the 15th.  Then there is another one dated May 15th, which is in Exhibit K10.5.  Then there is another letter that is dated May 16th that's part of the filing that was made available with a letter of May 21st.  


I'm sorry, I was late this morning and I don't know the exhibit number that that was given.


MS. NOWINA:  K12.1, Mr. Pape.


MR. PAPE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


So unless Mr. Ross, before I got here, asked you to sort this out, I want you to tell us what aspects of which of these documents accurately describe the features of the modified SPS that Hydro developed and that IESO asked for approval of.


So do you have those documents?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  All right.  So all of this covers several topics.  One issue -- perhaps you can tell me, if you know -- let's sort this out.  The letter that is dated May 16th, is it different, do you know, or -- we'll find out as we go through, but do you know if it is different than the letter that is dated May 15th that is part of Exhibit K10.5?


MR. SABISTON:  Mr. Pape, what we're seeing is the evolution of a letter from first draft to second draft to final version.


So the letter in Exhibit K10.3, in essence, is the first draft of that letter.


K10.5 is the second draft, and then the letter enclosed in the package, K12.1, is, in fact, the final version.


So one should only be looking at the final version of this letter.


Now, yes, there were some editorial-type changes happening to the letter as you went from first draft to final draft, but, for all intents and purposes, we should deal only with the final version of this letter.


MR. PAPE:  All right.  What is the process that got -- what was Mr. Conroy's process going from draft 1 to draft 2 to final?


MR. SABISTON:  Mr. Conroy was circulating drafts to various -- to the committee members and myself for comments.


So going from 10. -- going from the first draft to final draft, he received comments and he incorporated the comments and issued the final version.


MR. PAPE:  Those included your comments?


MR. SABISTON:  I provided no comments, but -- I had the opportunity to provide comments, but I provided none.


MR. PAPE:  Did anyone else?  Did anyone from IESO provide comments?


MR. FALVO:  I didn't, Mr. Pape.  There was an IESO member there at the meeting who presented the information, and I know that some of the numbers in the bullets that you are referring to on the May 16th letter were highlighted in earlier letters as subject to check, and I think they were confirmed.


But I would just describe the letter and the bullets.  The letter isn't -- the purpose of the letter isn't to describe, in detail, the functional specifications of the special protection system.  It is just simply to summarize for the task force's purpose of responding to Mr. Sabiston's task force.  


A detailed description of the functions in the special protection system are in Hydro One's planning specification and reviewed in the IESO SIA report.


MR. PAPE:  So if there is a discrepancy between even the final letter and the planning spec or the IESO's SIA, which are determinative of what in fact is the subject of the application?


MR. FALVO:  I'm sorry, I am not sure if I understand your question.


MR. PAPE:  Well, let's go through and look at the discrepancies, what discrepancies remain and -- so we can understand.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pape, your question was an interesting one, so I wonder if you could try to rephrase it so the witness panel could answer it.


MR. PAPE:  All right.  The question is, Mr. Falvo, now that you have jumped in here:  If there is a discrepancy between -- you now say there are three documents that we should look at, if I understand.  One is the final letter from Mr. Conroy, which is reporting on his committee's discussions to date, but then there are two other documents.


One is the planning spec itself, which is part of Exhibit K12.1, and it starts at page 6 of that document; right?  It is a letter -- it appears to be a memorandum dated January 24th, 2007, and it's headed "BSPS modifications, planning specification and request for estimate."


It is ultimately signed off, apparently, or intended to be signed off, by Peter Huang and John Sabiston.  Now, that is what you are talking about as planning spec; right?


MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.


MR. PAPE:  Then there is a second document in that same exhibit, which starts at page 16 of the exhibit as a whole, and it is an IESO document and it's headed "Bruce special protection system proposed enhancements", and it is the SIA report.  It's the transmission assessments from the transmission assessments and performance department.


MR. FALVO:  That's right.


MR. PAPE:  That's the second document you were talking about; right?


MR. FALVO:  That's right.


MR. PAPE:  And how do you refer to that document?


MR. FALVO:  That's the SIA on the Bruce special protection system, proposed enhancements.


MR. PAPE:  SIA stands for?


MR. FALVO:  System impact assessment.


MR. PAPE:  Thank you.  All right.  Now, do I understand -- so what I want to know is, if there's an application been made here, and there obviously is an application that was made - it's talked about in the May 5th e-mail - what documents would you understand are the documents which are the actual -- which actually describe the features of the SPS for which approval has been applied?


MR. FALVO:  Well, I think all of them describe them, to some extent.  Recall that Mr. Sabiston described the process of approval.


There are four task forces at NPCC that must give a recommendation to the reliability coordinating committee.  This is one of the task forces, only.  Their focus is on how the grid performs as a whole, and the potential consequences of failure to operate and consequences of mis-operation.  So their letter is in respect to that aspect of the approval process.


There is another task force, for example, that will be dealing with the design in very great detail.  So they will be going through the functional specification and looking at the equipment used, and all sorts of other things.


What we have right now is one task force that's made a recommendation.


MR. PAPE:  Yes, but if there's a discrepancy between the letter and the one of these documents that originates either with Hydro or the IESO, how would you -- and a discrepancy in the description of what the proposed modified SPS will have as its features, what would you consider the reliable source of information?

MR. SABISTON:  Okay.  I will attempt to describe how the application to the IESO is.

Page 4 of Exhibit 12.1 is, in fact, the system impact assessment or SIA application that Hydro One made to the IESO for these modifications, and then the modifications are described in the reference document, which -- one of which starts on page 6.

So the actual -- within the planning specification, that's a document starting on page 6, there is a listing of the actual modifications that are proposed be made by this project.

That list starts on page 7 of the exhibit.  It is a section labelled: "Section B, planning specifications.  B1: modification to the BLIS."

That's the list of the actual -- that describes, in a manner that the -- that are that our engineering group can actually design the modifications.  So this is a listing, on page 7 of that document, of the actual modifications which are being made to the Bruce special protection system.

Then IESO -- now, this document also references another document which was attached, and that document is on page 11, starts on page 11 of Exhibit K12.1.  And that's another modification to the Bruce special protection system, dated in March 2005, which describes the modifications required to reject the wind farms in the Bruce area.

So the actual modifications are described in the January 24th, 2007 spec, and the March 14th, 2005 spec.  Those two documents together describe all of the modifications being made to the Bruce special protection system.

IESO did the system impact assessment in response to our application, and that report is attached as page 16, starting at page 16 of Exhibit 12.1, and again -- so that document is IESO's assessment of the impact of those modifications.  This --

MR. PAPE:  Let me stop you there for a moment, Mr. Sabiston, just to catch up on a couple of things, and then I would be happy if you would continue.  The modifications that are described in the 2005 planning spec –-


MR. SABISTON:  Right.

MR. PAPE:  -- which were modifications to enable the system to reject wind --

MR. SABISTON:  Wind farms.

MR. PAPE:  -- wind farms, have those modifications, in fact, been installed on the system?

MR. SABISTON:  Some of them are in projects.

Okay, one has been installed.  Those are the modifications required to reject the Melancthon number 1 wind farm near Shelburne.

The other ones to reject the other connected wind farms are still in progress and have not been completed.

MR. PAPE:  All right.  But they're in progress now?

MR. SABISTON:  They're in progress now.

MR. PAPE:  All right.  And were those modifications approved formally?

MR. SABISTON:  Approved by?

MR. FALVO:  By NPCC?

MR. PAPE:  Yes.

MR. FALVO:  That was part of this application to them.

MR. PAPE:  So they haven't been approved?

MR. FALVO:  No, and they're not --

MR. PAPE:  So this application is for both sets of modifications?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. PAPE:  So you're actually installing a series of modifications to the SPS which have not yet been approved; is that right?

MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.

MR. PAPE:  That's completely within your rights as Hydro and IESO?

MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.  The subtlety here is that we cannot deploy the modifications until we receive -- until we receive NPCC approval.

So we can modify a facility to add new features, but we cannot take advantage of those new features until we have received NPCC approval.

And so that, in essence, is what is happening to the modifications to reject wind farms.  Even though the modifications exist, they cannot be deployed until we receive that NPCC approval.

MR. PAPE:  Why do the modifications allowing you to reject the wind farms, why did they not proceed for approval on their own?

MR. FALVO:  That was our inability to schedule that work any earlier.

MR. PAPE:  Sorry?  I'm sorry, Mr. Falvo.

MR. FALVO:  That was our inability to schedule our part of that work any earlier.

MR. PAPE:  Your part being the SIA?

MR. FALVO:  The SIA -– well, the presentation and the work to NPCC.

MR. PAPE:  On its face, that seems difficult to understand, Mr. Falvo.  Perhaps you can explain why your organization would need three years to do that.  I am not sure that it matters, but it just strikes me strange.

MR. FALVO:  We have lots of things going on.  And those features weren't -- as yet, aren't needed to be deployed.  So we schedule the work when we, you know, based on when we think it is needed and as early as we can get to it.

MR. PAPE:  I see.  All right.

Now, let's then go back, if we could, to the question of what the features are in the SPS, as it is now proposed to be modified for both purposes, for the rejection of wind farms which are confirmed as coming on line, which are currently authorized, and for the return of two Bruce units; all right?

The first question is:  How many lines are going to be modified?  I'm sorry, monitored, excuse me.  How many lines will be monitored?

There were several different sets of figures in the draft letters on this question.  The first letter of May 15th, the draft said it would monitor 12 500 kilovolt lines and four 230 kilovolt circuits for initiating contingencies.

The next draft said it would monitor -- it had different numbers.  All right?  It was phrased differently.  It described, first, the current situation.  It says in the current functionality, the SPS monitors 11 500 kV lines, and with the proposed enhancement, the SPS monitors an additional three 500 kV lines and four 230 kilovolt circuits.

So that makes for a different number.  That makes for 14 500 kilovolt lines and four 230 kV circuits.

Now, is that the correct number?  That's what's in the final letter, as well.  Is that what the SPS, as you are modifying it, is, in fact, going to monitor?

MR. SABISTON:  The numbers in the May 16th are correct.  The planning specifications does not refer to it by counting the total number of circuits monitored.

What the May 16th letter states, and it states correctly, is that the Bruce special protection system currently monitors the status of eleven 500 kV circuits.  To avoid boring the -- boring the Panel, I won't list the eleven circuits explicitly.


MR. PAPE:  We're grateful.


MR. SABISTON:  However, the proposed modifications require the monitoring of three additional circuits.  Going back to the lists on page 7 of the planning spec, those would be the loss of N582, that's the first circuit; the loss of N580M, that's the second; and the loss of N581M.


So those are the three circuits that are being added to the scope of the Bruce special protection system.


Similarly, it adds four 230 kV circuits for initialization, and those are listed at the bottom of the bulletized lists on page 7, B4B, B5D, B22D and B23D.  


Now --


MR. PAPE:  If you can hold, Mr. Sabiston, the three additional 500 kilovolt lines to be monitored, do those include the line which is -- are the lines which are the subject of this application?


MR. SABISTON:  No.


MR. FALVO:  No.


MR. SABISTON:  No.  N582L is an existing 500 kV circuit that goes from Nanticoke transformer station to the Longwood transformer station.  N580M and N581M are existing 500 kV circuits that go from the Nanticoke transformer station to the Middleport transformer station.


MR. PAPE:  And those lines have been in existence for some time?


MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.


MR. PAPE:  Why does the SPS not monitor them now?


MR. SABISTON:  In the past, it was never deemed necessary to monitor these lines for -- as a feature of the SPS.


Now the IESO has recommended that we include the monitoring of those circuits to initiate SPS action.


MR. PAPE:  So that a contingency event affecting one of those lines would be addressed by features of the SPS; is that right?


MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.


MR. PAPE:  Now, I'm sorry, I stopped you for a moment there, and if you were going to give us more information in answer to the description of the lines to be monitored, please go ahead.


MR. SABISTON:  Okay.  I believe I was just giving a similar description of the 230 kV circuits.


MR. PAPE:  Yes.


MR. SABISTON:  In the bulletized list, the last two lines say loss of B4V and B5V -- and/or B5V, and loss of B22D and/or B23D.  Those are all existing 230 circuits that go from either Bruce to Orangeville, or from the Bruce to the Detweiler transformer station.  


Those circuits are currently not monitored by the Bruce special protection system.  The modifications will include the monitoring of those circuits so that a contingency involving any of those four circuits can, in fact, initiate action of the Bruce special protection system.


MR. PAPE:  Just one more question about this issue.  These three 500 kilovolt lines that now exist but aren't currently monitored as part of the Bruce system, and the same -- and the four 230 kV circuits, are they monitored as an aspect of another or a different SPS system at the current time?


MR. SABISTON:  No, they are not.


MR. PAPE:  So is it -- perhaps you could explain to us.  Is this just normal engineering prudence to bring these additional lines into the monitoring features of this SPS -- this proposed modified SPS?  Is it any more than -- and I don't mean to denigrate it when I say this, but is this simply a function of good prudent planning and management?


MR. SABISTON:  I would not put it in those terms.  Hydro One would not needlessly spend money to add the monitoring of these circuits to the SPS if there was not a good reason to do so.


The reason we are adding the coverage of these lines is because the IESO has requested this in the outcome of a system impact assessment study in order to enhance the reliability of the power system.


Hydro One does not make significant investments on the basis of engineering prudence.


MR. PAPE:  Well, it sounds like there is more here than we understand.  So perhaps, Mr. Falvo, you could explain to us -- and I wasn't -- again, as I say, I didn't think that I was being in any way denigrating or demeaning when I suggested that engineering prudence might be the basis for this decision.


Perhaps you could explain more fully to us, Mr. Falvo, why IESO would ask that these lines be included in the monitoring functions for this SPS.


MR. FALVO:  Yes.  I would generally agree with how you described it.


What we're doing is anticipating various potential scenarios.  The generation is committed and under contract, so it's very likely to show up.  All of the other aspects, series compensation, transmission line, are still under discussion and they're going to be, at best, in service not before 2011 or 2012. 


So we're anticipating a period where we will need to manage the power system, and these features of the special protection system will provide some insurance in circumstances where they could be deployed.


MR. PAPE:  Specifically bringing new lines into the monitoring functions of this SPS, why was that required?


MR. FALVO:  Because with more generation anticipated, there will be more situations than we have now where outages on the power system would restrict that generation, and having the special protection system available under some of those conditions would allow that generation to be delivered to the grid.


MR. PAPE:  All right.


So by adding these additional lines and -- by adding features which allow you to monitor these seven lines which are not currently being monitored, would that be described as adding complications or complexity to the SPS?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  Yes.  So there is nothing inherently wrong with making the system more complex?  In fact, you have decided to make the system more complex so that it will do a better job?


MR. FALVO:  No.  It is an interim measure.  Mr. Chow said from the very beginning that expanded use of the generation rejection, the special protection system, is an interim measure, because we know we have an interim period that we have to manage.


It's not our desired outcome.  It is just one that we're going to use to manage.  So, no, we don't intentionally like to make things more complicated.


It is there if we need it.  That's the operational aspect of it.


MR. PAPE:  Okay.  Now, let's go to the second bullet, if you will.  I am looking at the three letters.  All three letters seem to say the same thing, that the system would trip up to 630 megawatts of wind generation at up to four project sites.  All right?


My question is that in the -- in another document, in the May 5 document, which is included in Exhibit K10.4, the request for approval of Type I special protection system, there is a description -- do you have that document?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. PAPE:  And there's a description in section 3.2 of that document.  I don't know that the pages are noted here, but it seems to be page 3.  Oh, it is page 3 -- sorry -- of the document itself, not the exhibit.  There is a table 2, which explains the contingencies that were tested for assessment.

When it talks about the contingency of the loss of 500 kV circuits, B560V and B561M, it says that the SPS action required involves rejecting two Bruce units and 400 megawatts of wind generation.

So could you help us understand, please, why the letter speaks of up to 630 megawatts but this document seems to speak of 400 megawatts of wind being rejected?

MR. SABISTON:  The document is describing the features of the SPS.  The document lists the four wind site: Leader, Melancthon -– Leader, Melancthon, Ripley and Kingsbridge.  So those are the four wind sites.  And it gives the megawatts beside them, which presumably will be totalled up to 630.  Those are the features of the SPS.

On the next page, it is talking about the failure mode of the SPS when it is set up in a certain manner.  It is only -- when it is set up in that manner, it is only using some of the new features that are provided, not all of the new features that are provided.  That is why there is a difference in the numbers.

MR. PAPE:  Well, I know you know what you just said, but you left me behind, I am afraid, so I have to ask for your help here.

I guess the bottom-line question is:  Is this modified SPS, has it been designed to trigger -– sorry, has it been designed, if it needed to be -- well as it's - has it been designed to reject 400 megawatts of wind?  Or has it been designed to reject more wind?

MR. FALVO:  It can reject all of the wind plants described.  That's the feature that it has.

MS. NOWINA:  At one time, Mr. Falvo?

MR. FALVO:  Yes, I believe so.

MR. PAPE:  And all four, do they add up to 630 megawatts?  The four that are listed?  You are talking about the list, Mr. Sabiston, on page --

MR. SABISTON:  At the bottom of page 2 of that existing -– section 2.4, "tripping of the wind turbine projects".

MR. PAPE:  Yes.

MR. SABISTON:  200 plus 200 plus 76 plus 158.

I don't have a calculator in front of me, but presumably that sums up to something close to 630.

MR. PAPE:  All right.

MR. NETTLETON:  For the record, Madam Chair, this is Exhibit K10.4.

MR. PAPE:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. NETTLETON:  For the transcript.  

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

MR. PAPE:  So, then, in fact this SPS is designed so that in some circumstances, all four wind turbine projects listed here in section 2.4, all four would be rejected at the same time?

MR. SABISTON:  It has been designed so that all four of those could be selected for rejection.  Because they are independently selected, whether or not one, two, three or four of them are actually rejected depends on the selections in effect at that time.

MR. PAPE:  Right.  And that selection process, is it made by operators who make decisions sort of based on all of the various factors and circumstances at a particular time?  Or is it, is the decision made pursuant to a computerized program for various contingencies and circumstances?

MR. SABISTON:  It will be made by a --

MR. FALVO:  It is both.  It will be both.  There will be a computer program running that will assist operators in monitoring the power system, and then they will make the final decision of directing Hydro One or the generation owners to arm the special protection system appropriately.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Falvo, sorry.  But once it is armed, then the decisions as to if it was to be activated, that is automatic?

MR. FALVO:  That's right.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So -- okay, thanks.

MR. FALVO:  The arming is a decision that is made on a minute-to-minute basis, based on prevailing conditions.

MR. PAPE:  So it could well be that -- that there could be a circumstance -- and this is what the program is designed to provide for -- there could be a circumstance in which the system was armed for a potential contingency event, and armed in a way that would reject all four wind generators, for example, and not reject any nuclear generators?

MR. FALVO:  That's right.  We're anticipating we might have a situation like that, so the feature has been requested and provided.

MR. PAPE:  Thank you.  So go back then, if you would, follow this up and go back, then, to table 2 in section 3.2, where it says in this table, if I -- perhaps I don't read it well.

It seems to say that if a certain contingency occurs, namely the loss of the 500 kV circuits, those two 500 kV circuits are both lost, then the SPS action required would be the things that are mentioned here:  Reject two Bruce units, 400 megawatts of wind, and reject 1,370 megawatts of load.

Now, do I now understand that that's one possible option, but there might be a whole other range of 
options --

MR. FALVO:  Yes, I said --

MR. PAPE:  -- and the system could be armed in a number of different ways?

MR. FALVO:  That's right.  I think -- I've got to try to explain that this application was there, was taken to NPCC for a specific purpose: to make sure that the classification that is required is understood and that we would get that approval.

They discussed and presented in detail one simulation and one scenario that had a specific generation pattern and a specific set of actions simulated and tested.  Again, the purpose of it was to show that the consequences are such that it needs to have one type of classification rather than another.

MR. PAPE:  You mean Type I?

MR. FALVO:  Right.  The section 3 you're referring to with the tables doesn't, in any way, describe or suggest that this is the only way that it would be used, nor does it limit any of the selections that are being made.

The staff went there simply to get that classification understood and approved, and given that classification is a one-time thing and that classification drives the very detailed design of the whole special protection system, in layman's terms, essentially the whole thing needs to have sufficient redundancy that it is virtually fully duplicated, and that happens once, that they are going to focus on the information that would dictate one decision versions another.

They weren't there to discuss all of the possible modes of how it will be used, although you have seen some of it in listing all of the functions and all of the features and the capability.

So that's why you're seeing some differences in numbers and some things that would look like apparent discrepancies.

MR. PAPE:  So if I understand you, the really essential decision that the NPCC is expected to make and being asked to make is to classify the modified SPS system as a Type I system, and that, to follow through on that classification, is to ensure that there is sufficient redundancy, et cetera, built into the system to fulfil the reliability criteria that go with being a Type I system.

MR. FALVO:  Right, that the design requirements are met and that all of the other concerns with respect to reliability are at least at an acceptable level.


So what you're seeing is the deliberation of, as I said, one of the several task forces that are going to be involved in all of this.  This one has a specific focus.  The others will have their own areas of interest that they're going to be reviewing and dealing with.


MR. PAPE:  Given that the current system is classified as a Type I system and given that none of the fundamentals are changing, was it ever really in doubt that the modified system would be a Type I system?


MR. FALVO:  Well, in my mind, no.  It could only be either Type I or they could not -- or they could decide not to approve it.  And, in that case, I would expect us to be doing some work to try to get them to approve it.


It is a change.  There are more features being added, and we expect to have to use it more often, at least in this -- certainly in this interim period, which is what this application was focussing on.  That's why, in our understanding of the NPCC procedure, we have to go to them to make them aware of that and to get their concurrence that this -- in this case, this one continues to be a Type I.  In some instances, the typing changes.  In some instances, it is no longer needed.  


We go back on an as-needed basis to make NPCC aware of the changes and make sure that they're satisfied with the reliability implications.


MR. PAPE:  And I assume that the design features that are built into the modified system that have been developed by Hydro's engineers, I gather in consultation with IESO expertise, that you have done all of that work on the assumption that this system would be classified as a Type I and it would need the necessary -- the usual types of reliability features, including sufficient redundancy, to satisfy the Type I criteria.


You have known all along that it was really going to be a Type I system?


MR. SABISTON:  Yes, that is correct.  And if you -- I believe if you look in the planning specifications, you will find that -- a statement stating that it needs to be built to Type I standard.


MR. PAPE:  Okay.  Let's continue this exercise, but before I do just tell me --


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me, Mr. Pape.


MR. PAPE:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Could this be an appropriate time for us to take our morning break?


MR. PAPE:  Certainly, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  We will take a 15 minute break and return at 10:45.


--- Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 10:55 a.m.

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.

You can continue, Mr. Pape.

MR. PAPE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Is your mic on, Mr. Pape?

MR. PAPE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Mr. Sabiston and Mr. Falvo, let's continue with the examination of these documents and find out what the features of the modified SPS are.

We're now at the point of dealing with the fourth bullet -- sorry, the third bullet in these letters.

Let's see what the different versions say.  In any event, the final letter says, in that respect, that it is capable of tripping up to four Bruce nuclear generation units, but the IESO anticipates that not more than two units will be armed, and two units total a maximum of 1,800 megawatts.

And the first draft had thought it was two units or up to 1,600 megawatts.

Now, what I would like you to tell me is what, in fact, are the features of the modified SPS you're working on, as it applies to tripping Bruce nuclear generation units.  Could one of you tell me?

MR. SABISTON:  As the final draft states, it is capable of tripping up to four units, but it is expected to be deployed so that no more than two will be rejected.

Then in brackets it says "(1,800 megawatts)" in the final version.  In an early draft, that 1,800, an earlier number was revised upwards to 1,800 megawatts, but the final draft stands.

MR. PAPE:  But is this sort of the same -- I know the consequences are heavier, but are we talking about the same kind of flexible options that you explained to us with respect to wind, namely that it could, in some circumstances, actually be decided to arm it so that it would trip four nuclear generating units?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.  If you recall, Mr. Pape, one of the documents that was part of the interrogatories was that 2005 IESO outlook, and it described how the SPS had been used in the past, where up to four units had been selected at one time and low rejection selected.  So that is an existing -- I believe that is still an existing feature, and this is just summarizing that as a feature.

MR. PAPE:  So are you saying, Mr. Falvo, that really nothing is changing?  That that feature of the SPS isn't really changing?

MR. FALVO:  I believe that feature hasn't changed.

MR. PAPE:  What's the significance or the force of this?  What kind of reliance can we put on this statement:  "The IESO anticipates that not more than two units will be armed;" what does that really mean?  You are talking, unfortunately, to a bunch of people, and many of them happen to be lawyers and the rest of us think we can understand, you know, plans and what will and won't be done.

So what does it mean that IESO anticipates this?

MR. FALVO:  Again, not being at the meeting, I am assuming that the discussion was that under normal day-to-day planned circumstances, the IESO doesn't expect to need to arm more than two units at any one time.

MR. PAPE:  So it sounds like what you're saying is there may be circumstances in which they would, in fact, trip more than two.

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. PAPE:  How do your colleagues in the NPCC feel about that range of discretion under this program, or this system?

MR. FALVO:  They're indicating they have concerns about the complexity and the consequence of failure to operate.

MR. PAPE:  Well, they don't -- it's not, then, a concern for them that under this program, the operator might find themselves arming it to reject as many as four Bruce units.  That's not a concern?

MR. FALVO:  Well, we wouldn't be doing it arbitrarily, just because it happened to be a specific day.

There would need to be situations on the power system that would warrant that.  Even on a day-to-day basis we try to reduce the arming to the extent possible, because every time something is armed, there is a risk of a failure to operate and there is a reliability consequence with that.

MR. PAPE:  Well, I wasn't suggesting for a moment that you would do such a thing arbitrarily.  I was simply trying to get it clear that the fact that the program would allow you to arm it in a way that it would reject four units, that by itself is not a factor that makes for a concern to the NPCC people.

MR. FALVO:  I'm sorry?  You're saying that that is not a factor in your concerns?

MR. PAPE:  Yes.  It has not been raised as a concern.  

Failure to operate is a concern, potentially, and complexity is a concern, but the potential substantial amounts of nuclear generation that might conceivably be rejected under some circumstances, that itself is not a concern.

MR. FALVO:  I wouldn't agree with that, because failure to operate if one unit is armed would be quite different than failure to operate if four units were armed.

MR. PAPE:  All right.  So the magnitude of generation that might need to be rejected is a real basis for concern?

MR. FALVO:  I believe it is a basis for concern.  That's why we have been saying all along, we don't like to use it any more than we have to.

MR. PAPE:  Right.

Can you explain to me the number 1,800 megawatts?  Our understanding has been that Bruce A units produce or generate about 750 megawatts and Bruce B units, 850 megawatts.  How do you get 1800?

MR. FALVO:  The 850 is a net.  The gross output of the units is -- for 850, the gross output of the Bruce B units is expected to be about 900 megawatts each.  So that's a round figure, 1,800.

When a unit's tripped off, some of the station service load that it is operating to -- in association with that unit, some of that remains on.  So that is an approximate number, 1,800.

MR. PAPE:  I see.  Does this mean, then, that -– and is that number used because the system is designed so that if you have to reject one or more Bruce units, you will be rejecting Bruce B units?

MR. FALVO:  It is just the more likely, higher figure, if we're having to rely on two Bruce B units versus two Bruce A units.

MR. PAPE:  Okay.  Now the next issue that is spoken about is rejection of load, and the bullet on the final letter says: 

"The system is capable of rejecting load in excess of 5,600 megawatts, but the IESO anticipates that no more than 1,500 megawatts of load will be armed."


And that's the same as the previous draft, but it is different from the first draft.  So, again, is this bullet an accurate description of the system that is being developed?


MR. SABISTON:  Yes, it is.  The load rejection happens at a number of transformer stations all over southern Ontario.


The planning spec lists 13 stations where -- sorry, page 8 of the planning specification, Exhibit K12.1, lists 13 stations where load rejection capability is being added.


Load rejection is utilized to try to offset, from the viewpoint of Ontario, the generation loss.  That is, if you reject, say, 1,000 megawatts of generation and you also simultaneously reject 500 megawatts of load, the net loss to Ontario is only 500 megawatts.


So the load rejection is there to help to mitigate the impact of the generation rejection from the viewpoint of outside of Ontario.


MR. PAPE:  I am going to come back to some questions about load rejection, but let's just finish off the features.


The last two bullets of the letter say that it will -- the system will trip 1,150 megavars of inductors at Bruce and Longwood.  Is that accurate?


MR. SABISTON:  That is accurate.


MR. PAPE:  The very last one says that the system will trip a 115 kV circuit.  Is that accurate?


MR. SABISTON:  That is accurate.


MR. PAPE:  All right.  So I have some things I don't understand about the concept of load rejection.


The current SPS is capable of rejecting load, is it not?


MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.


MR. PAPE:  And up to what amount of load is the current system capable of rejection?


MR. SABISTON:  I don't know the figure off the top of my head.  It's some amount.


MR. PAPE:  Can you give us a ballpark?


MR. SABISTON:  3,000, maybe 4,000 megawatts, somewhere in that range.


MR. PAPE:  Well, the current system, how is it armed?  For how much load rejection is it armed?  Can one of you tell us that?


MR. FALVO:  I believe it is rarely armed.


MR. PAPE:  It is rarely armed?  You mean that aspect or that feature of the system is rarely armed?


MR. FALVO:  That's right.


MR. PAPE:  All right.  It was armed in 1985 with the tornado; right?


MR. FALVO:  Yes, I believe so.


MR. PAPE:  Do you know of any other circumstances in which it has been armed to reject load?


MR. FALVO:  Not offhand, but I would expect that it has been used since then.


MR. PAPE:  You would suspect that it has?


MR. FALVO:  That it has been armed, yes.


MR. PAPE:  It's not noteworthy enough for you to know that; is that fair?


MR. FALVO:  I'm sorry, I don't remember the specific situation.  What I can say is the purpose for that bullet was to say that feature is there.  We don't plan to arm it under normal planned situations.  We don't plan to disconnect load in Ontario for a planned condition.


It's there for dealing with unplanned situations.  You can think of it as insurance.


MR. PAPE:  All right.  So under what conditions of generation or transmission facilities might you need to arm it to reject load?


MR. FALVO:  I would say --


MR. PAPE:  I am talking about the new system that you are proposing.


MR. FALVO:  Well, the load, the existing and the new, that has been activated.


MR. PAPE:  Right.


MR. FALVO:  I would say a plausible situation would be one where there are multiple forced outages on the system, and the only way to deliver expanded generation out of the Bruce area under that situation would be to have to arm more than 1,500 megawatts or so of generation.


So in that situation, we would arm an offsetting amount of load above 15 or 1,700, approximately, so, as 

Mr. Sabiston said earlier, that we don't expose the interconnected system to any more than a total amount of flow into Ontario following a contingency event.


MR. PAPE:  That's the 1,500 megawatt limit?


MR. FALVO:  Right.


MR. PAPE:  So the way the new system, the modified system, is being planned, would you need to arm it for load rejection in the event of loss of the existing Bruce to Milton line?


MR. FALVO:  Currently?  I'm sorry, I'm not sure I understood that question.


MR. PAPE:  The modifications that you propose --


MR. FALVO:  Right.


MR. PAPE:  -- which provides for rejecting potentially more load than currently, if I understand Mr. Sabiston's evidence, would it be necessary to arm that modified system to reject load in the circumstance that you lost the existing Bruce to Milton line?


MR. FALVO:  With what amount of generation?


MR. PAPE:  Well, the maximum amount of generation that you envisage during the interim period that you have been talking about.


MR. FALVO:  We're not going to arm load -- as I said earlier, we're not going to arm load generation for a planned situation.  As the IESO, that's what we are expecting to do.


MR. PAPE:  I wasn't talked about a planned situation.


MR. FALVO:  Well, then an unplanned situation would be for additional -- if there were multiple forced outages on the system and we couldn't tolerate reductions of generation out of the Bruce because it would lead to curtailing load, then an alternative would be to arm additional generation rejection so that the generation could be delivered in armed load rejection coincident with that.


And, under that circumstance, it would depend on what the most limiting contingency is.  It likely would be the Bruce-Milton, but it could be something else, because you're not talking about multiple outage conditions that are unplanned.  So they're unlikely, but there are probably a lot of them.

MR. PAPE:  So it isn't necessarily the case that in a contingency in which you lost the existing Bruce to Milton lines, you would need to reject load?  It isn't necessarily so; is that right?

MR. FALVO:  No.  That's right.

MR. PAPE:  So what does -- again, we're back to table 2 in section 3.2 of the May 5th request for Type I classification, where it says that in a contingency, the loss of two 500 kV circuits, you would reject two Bruce units, 400 megawatts of wind, and reject 1,370 megawatts of load.

You have just said, if I understood you, that that isn't necessarily what you would have to do.

MR. FALVO:  Right, but, again, what I said was the staff went there to demonstrate consequences of failure to operate, and consequences of mis-operation.  Mis-operation, in the NPCC procedure language, is an intended operation of the special protection system.

They happened to choose this scenario to discuss.  I would say, had I been back at the office, I would have encouraged them to describe some others.  But I look at this one as one of the, say, worst cases to demonstrate the consequence of a failure -- of a, sorry, of a mis-operation, where a lot of things would happen that are not intended, and I know, in talking to the staff, their goal was to show that even if they picked a very complex and worst case, they expected to be able to conclude that a mis-operation does not cause any unacceptable consequences.  And that's what they were able to show with this condition that they simulated and presented.

MR. PAPE:  Well, is it correct that the modified system might, in fact, be used the way it says in table 2?  Is it capable of being used that way, and it is designed with the possibility that it would be armed that way?

MR. FALVO:  It is designed with the possibility that those features are there to be used in circumstances when they're required, when they warrant.  We don't plan on using it that way on a day-to-day basis.

MR. PAPE:  Mr. Falvo or Mr. Sabiston, one of you, would you explain to us what the terminology of "N minus 1" means, and "N minus 2"?

MR. SABISTON:  That is planning jargon.  The term "N" means all elements in service, normal system.

So when someone refers to the "N" system, that means it is a normal system.  Every transmission element is in service.

N minus 1 means one critical transmission element is out of service.  So you are going from the normal system, you lose an element, you are now in the N minus 1 state.  Something has gone.

N minus 2 is similar to N minus 1.  It means you have now lost two critical elements.  So it is really planning jargon to describe the state of the system.  You are either normal, you have suffered a single contingency, N minus 1, or you suffered two contingencies, N minus 2.

MR. PAPE:  Now, when you have a double-circuit line like you do from Bruce to Milton now and you lose it, isn't that an N minus 1 circumstance?

MR. SABISTON:  From a planning point of view, two critical circuits are out of service, even though it's on the same tower line, so that is referred to as an N 
minus 2.

MR. PAPE:  From an operating perspective, is that an N minus 2 event, or an N minus 1 event?

MR. FALVO:  I would say I don't like to use that terminology, Mr. Pape, because it is very imprecise.  The NPCC criteria has a list of the contingencies that the system needs to be designed and operated for, with everything planned in-service and with specific things planned.

I would say I would stick to that terminology.  The loss of the Bruce-Milton line is a design criteria contingency.  It is a contingency the system must be designed and operated to withstand.

I would look at it that way.  Whenever I see those terms, I like to strike them out whenever I can find them, because it is imprecise.

MR. PAPE:  I may call you from time to time, Mr. Falvo, and ask your permission to strike some words from some these difficult documents.  I am sure we now will not hear those words from your counsel in his argument.

But more seriously, this scenario that is in table 2, section 3.2 of this document, that contemplates arming the system to reject load as well as two Bruce units and 400 megawatts of wind, does that scenario conform to NPCC criteria?

MR. FALVO:  Well, the contingency is one of the normal design criteria contingencies.  Remember, this is just a simulation scenario, so it is not much of a stretch to say:  This is a normal contingency that we need to design and operate for, and if there are enough other things happening on the system that would warrant a certain amount of actions or selections with the special protection system, and we have an exposure, and so let's talk about what the consequences of that exposure are and the risks of a failure to operate, coincident with the contingency.  Then a mis-operation, which would mean you don't have the contingency but the actions, the automatic actions happen because something has failed on a special protection system.

Those are both aspects that NPCC requires that we review and discuss and present to them.

MR. PAPE:  But I have understood that NPCC's criteria do use this N minus 1 and N minus 2 terminology, to set certain operating criteria for various types of contingencies.  Isn't that so?

MR. FALVO:  They list the contingencies separately in the A2 document.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PAPE:  But if we were in a position -- if we were in a circumstance between -- during this interim period we have been discussing, that is the period when your near-term measures are in effect but no additional transmission capacity has been created, and if all eight Bruce units are back on line, in those circumstances, would you ever need to reject load in the scenario that is described in the contingency in table 2?

Would you arm to reject load in that circumstance?

MR. FALVO:  I think our series compensation study shows that -- no, I'm sorry.  I think it would depend on the circumstances, whether the conditions would be able to be managed by rejecting just two Bruce units.

MR. PAPE:  Well, what would decide that?  Or what would make the difference?

MR. FALVO:  Whether there's a risk of having to curtail load in Ontario.  One of the decisions we look at is that arming load rejection for a contingency is not a desirable thing, but at least we still know that the contingency is unlikely in the bigger scheme of things.  So there's a low probability that the special protection system would trigger.

However, if we don't have that available to manage and we can't deliver all of the generation, and we found ourselves in a situation where there is not enough generation to balance the load, then we would have to curtail the load in that circumstance.  So that's a situation where you are wearing -- where you are weighing a for sure curtailment of load versus a condition that would require a load interruption only if the contingency happened.


So, in those circumstances, we would look at, as I said, the real-time conditions on the power system and determine the risks versus the consequences and benefits.


MR. PAPE:  So that did go round a bit, Mr. Falvo, but I believe what you have said is that under some circumstances, in the scenario I described in which all Bruce -- eight units are back online and there is no additional -- no enhancement of transmission capacity, that you might find yourself having to arm to reject load for this contingency situation?


MR. FALVO:  To prevent having to curtail load before the contingency, yes.


MR. PAPE:  And what would make it possible for you to avoid having to arm to reject load?


MR. FALVO:  Well, I guess it would depend on the prevailing circumstance.  If there are enough other resources available, they could be dispatched so that we didn't have to rely on a greater amount of generation rejection at the Bruce; then we would be looking at that situation, rather than having to arm load.


MR. PAPE:  If there were more facilities, you mean if there was -- that that would include the possibility of more transmission capacity from the Bruce?


MR. FALVO:  No.  I meant more generation.  On a given day, not all of the generation is needed, because the load is not at peak, so it would depend on the prevailing circumstances.


MR. PAPE:  Well, are you saying that all of the power that's being generated in the Bruce is not dispatched?


MR. FALVO:  No, I don't think so.


MR. PAPE:  You're not saying that?


MR. FALVO:  I don't believe so, no.


MR. PAPE:  So all of the generation that comes out of the Bruce, both nuclear and wind, is not dispatched to load?


MR. FALVO:  I believe you asked me under what circumstances could we be arming the load rejection.


MR. PAPE:  Yes.


MR. FALVO:  I said in a circumstance that would require more generation than this nominal 1,500 to be able to deliver all of the resources out of the Bruce area, that would be a circumstance where we would have to arm more generation rejection, and then of course arm some off-setting load rejection.


MR. PAPE:  Thank you very much for that.  I understand better now.


I want to follow up on some things that you said, Mr. Falvo, the last day you were on the stand, on May 15th.  I am looking at the transcript from May 15th.  I am on page 47.


Mr. Nettleton asked you this.  He said:

"Mr. Falvo, the application that gives rise to this letter, does it relate to the special protection system enhancements to the Bruce special protection system in respect of the near-term and interim measures?"


And you said:  

"Well, certainly the near term.  We're not sure of the timing of interim, if we're talking about series capacities, but that would continue to exacerbate what is described in here, I believe."


So you said something earlier this morning, as well, about series capacitors, that series capacitors are still being considered for the system.  Did I understand you right this morning?


MR. FALVO:  I'm sorry, I'm not sure.  I don't recall saying they're still being considered.  It's part of the discussion here at the hearing.  I think that's what I said.


MR. PAPE:  I'm certainly not going to set you and I up, both, to test our memories, Mr. Falvo.  That's a mug's game.  We will just deal with what your expert opinion is.


MR. FALVO:  Thank you.


MR. PAPE:  The confusion that I have is that the -- as I understand it, the modified SPS system that has been developed and was the subject of your application to the NPCC, that system does not appear to have been designed to contemplate series capacitors being added to the system, the Bruce-Milton system.


MR. FALVO:  I guess I would say all of the things that are included in it would certainly be features that would be required and that would be effective if we had a series compensation-type of a scenario.


I guess without knowing what that specific scenario is, I can't say that we wouldn't need anything else.


MR. PAPE:  Well, let me ask it this way.  Some of the -- again, using this one scenario that's in table 2 of 3.2 as an example, and the other scenarios that were run in order to first design, and then test the system, when you actually do those designing and testing functions, don't you have to put actual transmission generation and transmission megawatt numbers into your models?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  All right.  In looking at possible scenarios for how you would arm the modified SPS system, you do that, again, taking into account transmission capacity numbers in the system; right?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  Now, you tell me, but my understanding has been that the way the system has been modified now and the scenarios that you -- have been developed, they're scenarios that do not contemplate adding series compensation to increase transmission capacity in the interim.  Am I right, or not?


MR. FALVO:  Well, if you're referring to this specific application to NPCC, it didn't simulate or discuss the possibility of series compensation.  That's at least three years off.  So the staff are dealing with the upcoming situation.


MR. PAPE:  Now, if you go back -- if you go back to the design spec itself, which is in K12.1 - it's page 6 of the document - and the first page of the planning spec that we discussed earlier.  The third paragraph in the section A1 background says:

"A significant amount of work is being carried out in the Bruce area.  The new changes include the return to service of two Bruce A units, the connection of new wind generation capacity in the vicinity, the uprating of the B4V/B5V 230 kilovolt double-circuit line, the installation of a new double-circuit 500 kV line to Milton, and possibly the installation of new series capacitors."

Now, just so we're clear, the uprating of the 230 kV double-circuit line, that's what gets called "near-term measures".  Is that right?

MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.

MR. PAPE:  The installation of a new double-circuit 500 kV line to Milton, in fact, that is talking about the application that is before this Board.  Is that right?

MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.

MR. PAPE:  So, in fact, it is sort of is a misstatement to say that this work is being carried out, because you don't know that this work is going to be carried out.  Do you?

MR. SABISTON:  Technically, you are correct.  However, the approval work for that new line is very much in progress.

MR. PAPE:  You mean the consideration of your application?

MR. SABISTON:  Right.  By the consideration of the application and the EA, that's the approval work.  That work is being carried out.  The actual construction work to construct the new line is not occurring at this particular moment, pending the outcome of this application and the EA.

MR. PAPE:  Okay.  So if I understand, the modified SPS that has been designed and tested has been designed on the basis of the factors we have gone through up to now, up to this point, in this paragraph.  Namely the return to service of two Bruce A units, the connection of new wind generation capacity in the vicinity, and in fact it is the specific amounts up to 630 megawatts, I think it was, that you showed us the list of before.  And the near-term measures, and what you hope will be the case, that is that you will be allowed to build and operate the new double-circuit line.

That's the basis, the material basis or the planning basis for the modified SPS, right?

MR. SABISTON:  I disagree with that statement used in that context.

The statement is intended in the specification only to highlight the amount of work which is happening in the general area of the Bruce unit, both the current work and the possible future work.

Up until the B4V/B5V double-circuit line, that is the work that is currently underway.  Past that semicolon, the new double-circuit 500 kV line is possible feature work.

So this statement was intended to encompass both the work underway, plus the possible future work.

MR. PAPE:  So the installation of a new double-circuit 500 kV line, that is a possible future work?  And the installation of new series capacitors, that is also a possible future work?

MR. SABISTON:  Correct.  In fact, of the series compensation, it says "possibly".

MR. PAPE:  Yes, and you have just agreed, I think, that the new double-circuit line is also a possibility.

Now, you know it has been discussed that one of the options Hydro could have considered and could have chosen to implement as an interim measure -- before a new line is built -- is the installation of new series capacitors as part of the whole system that we call -- the whole Bruce system.  You know that?

MR. SABISTON:  Anything is a possibility.

MR. PAPE:  Well, in fact it was recommended for consideration, and this seems to suggest that it's one of the possibilities that is to be taken account of.  Isn't that so?

You approved this letter, sir.

MR. SABISTON:  As I stated a moment ago, this list of work was intended to encompass both the ongoing work and possible future work.

It was anticipated that the -- when this statement was written, that the 500 kV line would proceed with the series capacitors, as the Ontario Power Authority has couched it, an "interim measure" should the approvals or should the line be delayed significantly.

MR. PAPE:  All right.  So if series compensation was looked at and considered as an interim measure that could be added to the system to provide insurance, for example, about a delay in your right or opportunity to build the new line, that would mean that series capacitors might, in fact, be added to the system prior to the construction of the new line; right?

That was always the thought about how series caps might be developed and implemented.

MR. SABISTON:  Yes.  As I just stated, the Ontario Power Authority is looking at series capacitors as an interim measure, should this line be delayed significantly past the contemplated end of 2011 in-service date.

MR. PAPE:  That's why Mr. Woodford was contracted to do an updated report; right?

MR. SABISTON:  Right.  That's why Mr. Woodford was contracted to do the due diligence report.

MR. PAPE:  Right.  Now, the SPS that has been -- the modified SPS that has been designed, as I understand it, it does not address a possible scenario in which series capacitors would be added to the system before the new line would be built.

MR. FALVO:  Well, Mr. Pape, let me maybe go back and clarify what I said.

What I said was all of the features that are in it will be effective and would be very useful in a series compensation scenario.  In fact, they were first identified in our original series compensation report.

And depending on how and when series compensation were to be added, if it were to be added, the SPS, as it is designed, as I understand it, would be very effective in that situation.  All I'm saying is that without having that final decision, without knowing how exactly it would be implemented, that's why Mr. Woodford mentioned that there was lots of analysis and study that would still need to take place.

I can't guarantee that we have got everything we need.  I can be pretty confident in saying that what we've got would be very effective, would not be a throwaway in that series compensation scenario.

If it turned out as our old series compensation report had stated, it may very well be all that is needed.

MR. PAPE:  And I take it, then, that if that were so, then the way the modified system would be armed would likely be different if series capacitors were added.

MR. FALVO:  Different than today?

MR. PAPE:  No -– yes.  Well, and different from the scenarios that are addressed apparently in the application.

MR. FALVO:  Yes.  That's possible, because depending on what the specific circumstances are at that time, how much generation eventually does get developed, what other things are changing on the system -- and again the series compensation would be installed to try to maximize the -- maybe not to maximize, but to increase the transfer capability out of the Bruce.  So in that situation, it could very well be being used somewhat differently than what we're talking about today.


MR. PAPE:  Right.  Well, in fact, series compensation might and is expected, I think, to raise transfer capacity out of the Bruce by some 900 megawatts; right?  Those are the kind of numbers that are in the due diligence report.


MR. SABISTON:  I don't recall the exact numbers used in the reports.  One would have to go back to the previous evidence to confirm those.


MR. PAPE:  But it's a substantial amount?  I think that -- Mr. Russell is just helping me find a document here, and I am looking at the answer to Pollution Probe's Interrogatory No. 16.  It includes a chart, table 1.


That chart outlines increase in transfer capability with various types of measures.  By magic, that table has appeared before us all.  


So if you look at item B, on the left-hand column, near-term measures plus expansion of Bruce special protection system for use under normal system conditions, and then if you -- then if you look at C, near-term measures plus series capacitors, you see that you get 941 megawatts.  


The table says "above A" ("above", A).  Does that mean 941, in addition to the near-term measure?


MR. FALVO:  I believe it is identifying the difference between row C and row A.


MR. PAPE:  All right.  So, in fact, it's 900 megawatts, plus?


MR. FALVO:  No.  I think it's -- 941 is the difference between 6,326 and the 5,385, but you are about right.


MR. PAPE:  So series caps is in fact -- I mean, it is discussed here in the answers that it would add --


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  -- more than 900 megawatts of capacity?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  Okay.  So if that were so -- and that's without generation rejection in that column?


MR. FALVO:  In row C?  No, I believe that says near-term measures plus series capacitors.


MR. PAPE:  I see.  Yes, all right.  But that is only during outage conditions?


MR. FALVO:  Right.


MR. PAPE:  It wouldn't be armed in normal conditions?


MR. FALVO:  Right.


MR. PAPE:  All right.  So if that was so, if capacity was increased like that, then isn't it so that fewer generators might need to be rejected?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  And that would either eliminate or certainly substantially lessen the amount of load that might need to be rejected?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.  As I said, we don't expect to have to use it under normal circumstances.


MR. PAPE:  I am talking about if series capacitors were added.  That's what you're talking about, too, is it?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  Yes.  In fact, if all of those things were done, then those steps would substantially lessen operational complexity, wouldn't they?


MR. FALVO:  No, not necessarily, because you're adding more facilities, and then you are increasing the amount of transfers that are taking place.


You are arming a special protection system.  In each one of these cases, the transmission system is being run up to its full capability.  So we keep pushing it to the edge.  


Now, if you want to have a safe -- in a non-complex system, you would stay away from the edge.


MR. PAPE:  Yes.  But of course if you compare lines B and C, in line B, when all you've got is the near-term measures plus the expansion of the SPS system, you've got it for use under normal system conditions; whereas in line C when you added series capacitors you are only going to be using the SPS during outage conditions.  So that's a substantial diminution or lessening of complexity, surely.


MR. FALVO:  Yes.  With respect to the special protection system, I would say "yes".


MR. PAPE:  Yes.  As far as any other issues about specific engineering measures that need to be designed and so on, those are exactly the kinds of measures and issues that Dr. -- sorry, Mr. Woodford was saying need to be looked at in detail in some follow-up studies; right?


MR. FALVO:  I believe so, yes.


MR. PAPE:  Let me ask you about something else.  There is a bit of a confusion here.  I want to ask you about something that is in the Conroy letter - that is the one we looked at today that's in K12.1, the final letter - and something in the application itself.  I will just find those documents myself.


All right, I have the documents.  Thank you.  


I can ask you my question.  Mr. Conroy says this -- I am looking at his letter.  I guess it is the final letter, and it is in Exhibit K12.1, and I am looking at the second page of the letter, so it is page 28 of the exhibit.


In the second paragraph on the page, he has been talking about several concerns earlier in the letter, and then he says:   

"To address these concerns, TFSS notes that Hydro One, the transmission owner in Ontario, and the IESO are in the permitting process for new transmission facilities which will remove the need for arming this SPS with all transmission facilities in service."


Now, if you go back to the application itself, which is just before the letter in the exhibit, and if you look at page 22 of the exhibit, which is page 5 of the SIA report, it seems to suggest something else; that, in fact, the SPS wouldn't necessarily cease to have application, because the second paragraph says, "Because the Bruce SPS" -- I am looking at section 5, "Future Expansion of the Bruce SPS":

"Because the Bruce SPS is now over 20 years old and much of the technology employed in the scheme is obsolete, Hydro One has commenced a review of the expected requirements once the new line is in service and additional generation capacity has been installed to take advantage of the increased transfer capability out of the Bruce area."


It goes on to say that you are also examining potential requirements for additional features during the interim period.  I will leave that.


Finally, the last paragraph in the section says:   

"Depending on the outcome of this review, it could be decided to replace the existing SPS.  Consequently, the proposed enhancements that are the subject of this assessment have been limited to only those that are required for the return to service of the remaining two units at the Bruce complex."

The point of my taking you to these is that I don't understand how Mr. Conroy could have been assured, by Hydro One or IESO people, that building the transmission line will inevitably remove the need for arming the SPS with all transmission facilities in-service, because you don't know what kind of SPS you are going to require.  You haven't even begun to explore that yet.

Now, I know that is a long, a very long question, but really the question is for you to please explain to us whether there is a discrepancy between what it says in the application in the sections I read to you, and this apparent conclusion or assumption, whatever it is, that Mr. Conroy has made.

MR. FALVO:  Well, Mr. Conroy's statement says: 
"...will remove the need with all transmission facilities in-service."

Again, any discussion of ours about retaining the special protection system would be to deal with multiple outage conditions.  In fact, if you go back to that interrogatory, the bottom row, says:
"-- plus the BSPS for use during outage conditions."

Remember that the 8,160 that is described there, that's fully utilizing the proposed system.  It doesn't have any additional spare capability in it.

So likewise, the system with some outages in it might not be able to allow that 8,160 transfer.

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, just for the record, Mr. Falvo was referring to Exhibit C2-16.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. PAPE:  Well, perhaps the best thing -- I appreciate your answer, Mr. Falvo, and maybe that deals with my question.  I think the best thing for us to make sure we've got to the heart of this issue that I have asked you about, let's -- I would suggest, Madam Chair, we take the break, and I will make sure that I understand clearly what Mr. Falvo said and I will know whether I need to follow up on that particular answer.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, because we did have to break at 12 o'clock.  So we will break now and we will not resume until 2:30 this afternoon.

MR. PAPE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:59 a.m. 

--- Upon resuming at 2:40 p.m.

Procedural matters:

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Before we begin, I would like to deal with a preliminary matter for a moment.


Mr. Barlow, you sent us a letter saying that there was some new information that you thought -- on the budget that you thought should be examined.  Can you clarify to us what new information you are thinking of?


MR. BARLOW:  I believe on the Thursday, the last of -- the week of hearings we had, Mr. Nettleton indicated that they had a new budget.


MS. NOWINA:  A new budget for the project?


MR. BARLOW:  Pardon?


MS. NOWINA:  A new budget for the project?


MR. BARLOW:  Yes.  I thought I heard that near the end of the day, so that's why I was questioning whether that was indeed the case.


MS. NOWINA:  I don't recall, Mr. Barlow.  Mr. Nettleton, can you clarify for us?


MR. NETTLETON:  That is not my understanding.  I don't recall that statement being made, and I have confirmed with my client that there is no budget -- there has been no modification to the budget.  The budget is as applied for.


MR. BARLOW:  Okay, that's fine.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Are there any other preliminary matters?


Mr. Pape, are you ready to resume?

Cross-examination by Mr. Pape (continued):


MR. PAPE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Could I ask you, please, Mr. Falvo and Mr. Sabiston, to look one more time at the letter of May 16th from Mr. Conroy that is at the end of Exhibit K12.1.


I just want to go back one more time to the sentence on the second page in the second paragraph:

"To address these concerns, TFSS notes that Hydro One, the transmission owner in Ontario, and the IESO are in the permitting process for new transmission facilities which will remove the need for arming this SPS with all transmission facilities in service."


Now, if this new transmission line application was approved and Hydro did construct that line, my question is:  After those events, if those events occurred, would you not still need to be in a position to arm the Bruce SPS?  


If you had information, for example, that weather events were threatened which would threaten the entire -- the entire right-of-way, the Bruce-Milton right-of-way, wouldn't you need to arm the SPS if you had notice that that kind of weather event was threatened?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.  We said that's an option that we might utilize in that situation.


MR. PAPE:  So then, in fact, that would amount to a circumstance in which you would need to arm the SPS with all transmission facilities in service?


MR. FALVO:  Yes, that's a possibility.


MR. PAPE:  So I guess this letter isn't really very precise; would that be a fair thing to say?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.  I think they were talking under normal operations, as opposed to -- you know, in NPCC jargon, the loss of a right-of-way is an extreme contingency.  It is not one that the system must be designed to withstand.  


You just have to have enough measures in place to manage it to a practical extent.


MR. PAPE:  Right.  So let me, in fact, ask you about that very thing, the notion of extreme contingencies, and how those are treated in NPCC documents and NPCC criteria for design and operation.


I want to ask you if you would turn up, if you would, Exhibit 5.6 in this proceeding, which is NPCC document A-2, the basic criteria for design and operation of interconnected power system.


MS. NOWINA:  Is that C5.6, Mr. Pape?


MR. PAPE:  Well, I think it is K, Madam Chair, sorry.


MR. MILLAR:  I think we have some spare copies, Madam Chair, if you are having trouble locating those, though you may have marked-up copies already that you may wish to use.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I think Mr. Monem also distributed copies in an e-mail sent last week.


MR. PAPE:  Yes, we did.  We didn't realize that this was already filed as an exhibit.  So there are some copies available, or could be made available, if that would help.


MS. NOWINA:  We've got it.


MR. PAPE:  What I want to ask you about, Mr. Falvo -- do you have it, the document?


MR. FALVO:  I have a copy of that document, yes.


MR. PAPE:  Thank you.  I want to ask you about the concept of extreme contingency that you just mentioned.  I think it is discussed on page 10, section 7 of this document.


The first thing, perhaps I will read a bit of this into the record:

"Extreme contingency assessment recognizes that the bulk power system can be subjected to events which exceed in severity the contingencies listed in section 5.1.  One of the objectives of extreme contingency assessment is to determine, through planning studies, the effects of extreme contingencies on system performance.  This is done in order to obtain an indication of system strength or to determine the extent of a widespread system disturbance, even though extreme contingencies do have low probabilities of occurrence."


Then it mentions some extreme contingencies that are listed below meant to serve as a means of identifying some of those particular situations that could result in widespread bulk power system shutdown, and it's the responsibility of each area to identify additional extreme contingencies, if any, to be assessed, and so on.


Now, the first question I have, sir, is, I want to understand.  It appears to me that the concept of extreme contingency has a double aspect to it.


One is that these are contingent events which are severe, and, second, that these are contingent events which have low probability of occurrence.


Am I right that the notion of extreme contingency has both aspects?


MR. FALVO:  I read it as having one or both.


MR. PAPE:  One or both?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. PAPE:  So sometimes people talk about extreme contingency events as very rare events; right?


MR. FALVO:  Well, rare beyond the design criteria contingencies listed in section 5.1.


MR. PAPE:  Okay.  So infrequent that they aren't included in 5.1.  And the significance is what?  Contingencies that are listed in 5.1 need to be planned for on what basis, Mr. Falvo?


MR. FALVO:  I am not sure if I understand.  They're a requirement.  The system must be able to withstand those.


MR. PAPE:  Right.  And extreme contingencies, the system does not need to be planning to withstand those; right?


MR. FALVO:  That's right.


MR. PAPE:  You need, instead, to do what kind of planning for extreme contingencies?


MR. FALVO:  Well, as it says in the paragraph that you read, it is an assessment in order to obtain an indication of system strength or to determine the extent of a widespread disturbance.

MR. PAPE:  So, but you don't need to have a plan to withstand an extreme contingency?  It's outside section 
5.1 --

MR. FALVO:  Well, I think at the end of section 7, there is a final paragraph that indicates evaluation of implementing a change or operating practice to address those.  It says: 
"May be utilized where appropriate to reduce likelihood."

So there are things that you do -- I read it as -- to the extent you can, and that it is practical and affordable and you weigh all of these things, the probability and the consequence, but they're not an absolute must.

MR. PAPE:  All right.  So I think you're referring to the paragraph that says:
"Note:  The requirement of this section is to perform extreme contingency assessments.  In the case where extreme contingency assessment concludes there are serious consequences, an evaluation of implementing a change to design or operating practices to address such contingencies must be conducted, and measures may be utilized where appropriate to reduce the likelihood of such contingencies, or to mitigate the consequences indicated in the assessment of such contingencies."

That is what you're talking about?

MR. FALVO:  Mm-hmm.

MR. PAPE:  Right.  That is different from 5.1?

MR. FALVO:  Right.  5.1 is a shell.

MR. PAPE:  I take it, given all that you have explained and pointed out, that really the fundamental aspect which makes a contingency an extreme contingency -- in this terminology, in this NPCC terminology -- is, in fact, the very rare likelihood of occurrence, the very low probability of occurrence.  That's why it would be a contingency under section 7, rather than section 5.1.  Is that right?

MR. FALVO:  Well, I think the infrequency of it is certainly a factor.  I can't say for certain, because given that some of the ones in 5.1 are also infrequent, you know, I don't have a reliability or statistical index to compare the frequency of one or the other.  But in general, the extreme ones are considered to be less likely than the design ones.

MR. PAPE:  All right.  Now, I note that in the list under section 7, G talks about:  
"Failure of a special protection system to operate when required, following the normal contingencies listed in section 5.1."

So that failure is a section 7 contingency, not a section 5.1 contingency.  That's correct, eh?

MR. FALVO:  It's failure of one that meets the criteria for NPCC; that's how I would read that.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pape, I am going to interrupt you for a second.  We're on to a different document now, and this morning when I described the scope of today's cross-examination, we were limiting it to the new information.  Is there a connection between this line of cross-examination and the material that we have received since May 15th?

MR. PAPE:  No.  Only in the sense, Madame Chair, that -- and I am only going to be a couple of minutes with this -- but the reason I am going here is because the frequency of occurrence of a possible risk of failure of the special protection system was raised in this correspondence.

I just want to get some perspective for the Board on how such an event is considered in NPCC criteria.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, but --

MR. PAPE:  That's all I'm doing.

MS. NOWINA:  -- I just want to remind you I don't want to stray very far from the new information we had.

MR. PAPE:  Thank you.  I should have introduced it better with that in mind, but you have now my reason for going there.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.

MR. PAPE:  Now, it is also true, isn't it, sir, that loss of the right-of-way is characterized as an extreme contingency?  It is number C in the list:  "Loss of all transmission circuits on a common right-of-way."

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. PAPE:  Yes, so, and this is what I want to get to.  We have had some questions about the common right-of-way problem, and as I understand it, in bringing forth this application, Hydro and all of the various bodies who are involved in this application have decided that it is acceptable to risk putting another transmission line in the same right-of-way, even though doing so would, if anything, increase the severity of the consequences of a loss of that right-of-way, due, for example, to weather or some other cataclysmic event.

You -- OPA and Hydro and IESO -- all consider that an acceptable risk; correct?

MR. FALVO:  Yes, that's what I've said.

MR. PAPE:  Sorry?

MR. FALVO:  Yes, that's what I have said.  I have assessed it as an acceptable risk.

MR. PAPE:  And if, in fact, you are allowed to build the line and do build the line where you propose, there is really no measures you can take to prevent, you can't be proactive to prevent those kind of weather contingencies, for example.

MR. FALVO:  Well, no.  We have said that we have a lot of procedures in place and we have regular real-time monitoring of weather events.  So we will be doing our best to get an advance indication of weather events that we know of, and I said we have not just arming of a special protection system that could be available to us, but if we have enough advance notice, we could reduce the generation, given that that's an infrequent occurrence, and if we had enough advance notice we could do that.

So we have a variety of things that we could -- steps that we could take all in advance, given that we are being proactive in monitoring the weather and being on top of those situations.

MR. PAPE:  Right.  So you could mitigate consequences but you couldn't mitigate, in fact, the loss of the right-of-way and the line?

MR. FALVO:  Well, we can't direct where a tornado goes, no.

MR. PAPE:  Right.  On the other hand, when it comes to the potential failure of an SPS, that's a problem that, in fact, you can take proactive steps to reduce the likelihood or the consequences.  Right?  Particularly, you can take steps to reduce the probability of such a failure.  For example, by building in redundancy and very robust redundancy features in your communication systems.

MR. FALVO:  Yes, but keep in mind, in the NPCC criteria on those, there are always two aspects.  The more redundancy you have, the better your chances of it operating when it is supposed to, but the worse your chances are of it operating when it is not supposed to.  So you have to balance those things.

This item you have identified in the extreme contingencies, I read the failure of that as the failure of an SPS that satisfies the NPCC design criteria.  Remember, our application and our process was to go there to get agreement on the type of classification and its design.

Then, given its design, it would be considered in part of the design requirements, but of course it is still susceptible -- you know, nothing is 100 percent guaranteed -- so it is still susceptible to a failure, but now it would fall under the category of an extreme, rather than, for example, something that doesn't have any redundancy that would have much more likelihood of failing.


MR. PAPE:  Right.  So the kind of measures and the planning for redundancy and the balancing out of all of these factors, that is exactly what you were describing when you discussed the note that is found at the end of section 7?


MR. FALVO:  That's a part of it, yes.


MR. SABISTON:  Mr. Pape, it may be useful to look at how we mitigate for item C, loss of all transmission circuits on the right-of-way, and mitigate for section G, failure of an SPS.


To mitigate for C, as Mr. Falvo says, they can monitor the weather or arm a part of the SPS which caters to that condition.


To cater to item G, what can be done is to reduce the frequency of arming.  If the SPS is not armed, it cannot fail.  So by installing the new line, which will obviate the need for arming under normal conditions, you are, in fact, mitigating factor G.


And so we have ways of mitigating all these extreme contingency events.


MR. PAPE:  You also have some middle paths, which are exemplified by things which you have called either near-term measures or interim measures, which would make the need for the SPS or the severity of the SPS measures lessened; right?


MR. FALVO:  No, I wouldn't agree with that, because the series compensation plan doesn't have the capability of the new line; relies on the use of the SPS more frequently.  So in the end, what you've got is - let's call it loosely, an alternative, although I don't think that is the case - is an option that we have the same amount of generation expected.  We have no more transmission circuits.  We just have some devices attached to those circuits that allow us to essentially go even further above the capability of the  transmission system, and it's only with the automated action of the special protection system can we withstand any contingencies.


We cannot -- the system is not strong enough to withstand the contingencies without the special protection system; remember, something that operates automatically and must operate correctly.


So I wouldn't characterize a series compensation alternative to the line as being a lesser risk.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pape, while you are considering further questions, I still haven't seen a very clear connection to the documents in question.


So your next question perhaps can do that for me, or perhaps we should need to leave this line of questioning.


MR. PAPE:  All right.  Madam Chair, if I could have just a moment?


I think those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Further cross-examination?  Oh, Mr. Ross, you had the interrogatory that you wanted to find in order to ask a further question.  Are you intending to do that?


MR. ROSS:  Pollution Probe's interrogatories are in fact voluminous and I wasn't able to track down the specific reference, nor was Mr. Klippenstein.


I can leave it.  It wasn't the most important point.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Fallis, do you have questions?

Cross-examination by Mr. Fallis:


MR. FALLIS:  Yes.  I don't have a lot of questions, but I do have some.


Panel members, I would like to first ask Mr. Sabiston a couple of questions.


Mr. Sabiston, from the documentation that was filed on Thursday, May 15th, which is the subject of our cross-examination, it noted that you are the chair of the NPCC task force on the coordination of planning for that organization; is that correct?


MR. SABISTON:  That's correct.


MR. FALLIS:  And your role is -- are you nominated by Hydro to be on the committee or are you appointed by Hydro to be on that committee?


MR. SABISTON:  I am nominated by Hydro One to sit on that committee to represent Hydro One.


MR. FALLIS:  How long have you been in that capacity?


MR. SABISTON:  How long have I been a member of TFCP?


MR. FALLIS:  Well, on the committee, and then as chair, is really what I want to get at.


MR. SABISTON:  Okay.  I have been on TFCP for approximately four years.  I am chair during calendar year 2008, and then at the end of 2008 another member will take over as chair.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  Now, the letter itself that was sent to you on May the 5th was written by the IESO and sent to you in your capacity as chair of the NPCC; is that correct?


MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.


MR. FALLIS:  And the -- and had the chair been the chair the year before, he would -- if it had been Vermont or Rhode Island or something, he would have received that letter.  Would that be...


MR. SABISTON:  Yes.  Had this been a year earlier, the person who was chair during 2007 would have received that letter.


MR. FALLIS:  Now, it appears that the letter was forwarded by the IESO to various committee members of the NPCC.


I notice one committee member by carbon copy was Mr. Falvo, himself.  Is he, to your understanding, part of the NPCC task force and coordination of operation?  This is Mike Falvo.  Is he on the committee, or on the board with you?  Mr. Falvo, you could probably answer that.


MR. FALVO:  I am on the committee with Mr. Conroy.  The reason I was copied is because it is my staff members who prepared that letter, and so they don't like to surprise the boss.


MR. FALLIS:  I see.


So the reply that came back on May 15th, and it has been the same one on May 16th, was sent back by the -- by Mr. Conroy in his capacity as the chair of the task force and system studies to you, Mr. Sabiston, as your capacity as the task force chair of coordinating and planning; is that correct?


MR. SABISTON:  That's correct.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  So between the two of you, that is sort of a letter from NPCC to NPCC.  It is internal to that organization; is that correct?


MR. SABISTON:  It is a letter between two of the task forces of NPCC.


MR. FALLIS:  Now, with respect to the NPCC -- I know you have another capacity here with Hydro, but with respect to this particular letter, did you have any or do you have any authority from the NPCC to testify or give evidence about these letters of an internal memo to this hearing?


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I am not sure what the purpose of the question is.


The fact is is Mr. Sabiston is here.  The evidence has been filed.  The evidence, when it was filed, was adopted by Mr. Sabiston as evidence for the purposes of this proceeding.


Perhaps my friend can move on.  I don't understand what the purpose of the question is.


MS. NOWINA:  I am a little puzzled myself, Mr. Fallis.


MR. FALLIS:  I just want to know if the question -- my reason for asking the question is:  Was the evidence tendered on behalf of NPCC, which he appears to be a member of, or in his capacity as a representative of Hydro One?


MS. NOWINA:  We know who filed the evidence, Mr. Fallis.


MR. FALLIS:  Hydro One filed it.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. FALLIS:  Well, could I ask this question then of you, Mr. Sabiston?  Probably this is my last question of you.


The letter that came back from -- on May the 15th and May the 16th, and all of the copies of that letter, were sent to either the task force on system studies or to -- or coordination and planning, or to the IESO, but nothing came to Hydro, is that right, Hydro One?  It wasn't sent to Hydro One and it wasn't copied to Hydro One?


MR. SABISTON:  That is correct.


MR. FALLIS:  Okay, that's fair.  Those are my questions of you.


Mr. Falvo, you have indicated that the IESO is -- you are a member of the NPCC.  I am just curious.  Was there a particular reason why the letter from IESO went to Mr. Sabiston of HONI rather than to the chairman, Conroy?  Is it protocol that you would do it to that committee?  Or do you -- or would it --

MR. FALVO:  Well, as part of the procedure, I think the flow chart from the NPCC reference directory was part of -– well, I can't be sure whether it is just my hard copy or whether it was parts of Exhibit K10.5 --

MR. SABISTON:  It was filed as part of Mr. Russell's evidence, directory 7.  Perhaps someone could help with the actual reference number.

MR. FALVO:  In any event, there is a flowchart and it starts with the task force on coordination of planning.  So the request goes to them --

MR. FALLIS:  That's satisfactory.  I just wanted to know, and I accept that.

Now, in your document that you have -- the request for a Type I classification enhancements to the Bruce special SPS, you have at paragraph 3.2 of that document talked about contingencies that were tested.

And Mr. Pape referred to this at the bottom -- or in his cross-examination, about if you lost the 500 kV circuits on the 560V and V561M line, that the required action would be to reject two Bruce units, Bruce and Longwood reactors.

Now, I just had a question.  Obviously, I am not -- reactors to me are nuclear, but I don't think Longwood has one.  What does that mean?

MR. FALVO:  Sorry, those are electrical reactors.  They're like just a big coil of wire.

MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  All right.  And then to reject 1,370 megawatts of load.  Now, the rejection of load is part of the SPS; is that correct?  It's one of the things that –-


MR. FALVO:  Well, as we said, it is a feature.  It is a capability.

MR. FALLIS:  It's a capability.  And I take it that load can be at the generation end, but load can also be at the demand end; is that right?

MR. FALVO:  No.  When it is describing load here, it is describing the customer load at the distribution stations.

MR. FALLIS:  At the distribution station to, let's say, at Toronto Hydro or at that end, is that what you're talking about, the distributor end?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  So I have looked at your website for the IESO to -- disclosed it, that the IESO was appointed by the Minister of Energy as program coordinator for the Smart Metering program, and I think that has been approved by this Board.

MR. FALVO:  I believe that is the case, yes.

MR. FALLIS:  Yes, and that the program, as part of the load management, or gain, I think you call it DMS or demand -– DSM, demand system management.  Is that the acronym for -- that you are familiar with?

MR. FALVO:  I am not exactly sure.  I forget what DSM stands for, but you are close, I think.

MR. SABISTON:  DSM stands for demand-side management.

MR. FALLIS:  Demand-side management.  Fair enough.

And the other expression of "load shedding" is another word that I have come across in my research, is dropping load or trying to reduce load at the consumer end; is that correct?  Is that an expression you are familiar with?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.  I think we have probably come across it used loosely.  I think we would say load shedding is an intentional interruption of load to manage a reliability situation.

MR. FALLIS:  Mm-hmm.  Now, the program that you -– and I'm dealing with the load rejection side, just so the information is out before the Board, because I don't know if we've had that conversation with anybody, except the conversation with you about that, but I understand that in the province that there are approximately -– of course, your website indicates this -- approximately four and a half million meters in the province.

MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I am not sure where this line of questioning is going.  We are here to talk about the evidence that comprises Exhibit K12.1, and the application made to the NPCC and the letter back from Mr. Conroy.

We are well beyond that, that narrow realm.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Fallis?  Smart Meters?  I am having a hard time seeing the connection.

MR. FALLIS:  Well, I am trying to understand – they use, in this one particular test that they did, they talked about rejecting 1,370 megawatts of load.  And I am wanting to understand what the -- that was a test, but that is obviously part of the system, is rejecting load at the end.  I just want to know what the program forecast is for load rejection when it is fully implemented by 2010, or at least it will be in shortly thereafter.  I want to know what that is, because it's a relevant part of reducing the -- that's my reason for the question.

MS. NOWINA:  Is it related to the documents that we're discussing today?

MR. FALLIS:  Well, I believe it is, because it's -- we're talking about, it is part of the SPS system, is rejection of load.  I just want to know what --

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think perhaps some clarity, if maybe the witnesses could perhaps differentiate between load shedding and demand-side management.

MR. FALVO:  Yes.  This is strictly load that is connected to this special protection system, and it's there strictly to deal with contingencies on the power system.

The automatic tripping for a fault, for example, of the 500 kV line, and that for that circumstance, for some reason, we would have had to arm some load to manage that situation.  As I said, we are not normally planning to do that.  But that's the purpose of that functionality.

It is distinct and separate from the Smart Metering program and demand-side management, because that is more of a -- I think of that as more of a program to be used as an alternative to either the long-term investment in generation or in accordance with conservation.

It is part of, I think of it as part of the long-term plan to balance the total generation and the total load, and factor in some economics in terms of whether it is running expensive generation versus allowing customers to choose to reduce their output.

MR. FALLIS:  When you use the words "1,370 megawatts of load" in your example, are you talking a load at the -- just stopping that much going to a distributor from arming the system, or something like that?  Is that --

MR. FALVO:  It would be the amount of load that would to be interrupted in a specific circumstance to manage reliability, and it would be triggered by the special protection system.

MR. FALLIS:  Oh.  Would that mean an outage to a particular distributor because of --

MR. FALVO:  That's what it would mean.  Or at least a feeder or some set of feeders from their station, yes.

MR. FALLIS:  So it isn't beyond, from the distributor who puts in like the Peak Saver program that the OPA has put in place is to reduce loads because they can instantly cut off, as they do in other jurisdictions.  They can shut off appliances that the load -- heavy load users, and reduce the demand at the other end instantly.  Is that --

MR. FALVO:  No.  You should think of those as two distinct things.

MR. FALLIS:  I should think of those as two distinct things.

MR. SABISTON:  The load shedding, the vision here is at the transformer station level.  The load shedding has to occur virtually instantaneously.

The only way that can happen is if it is tripped at the transformer station level; that is, opening the breakers that supply a particular transformer station.  That has absolutely nothing to do with demand-side management, which is done at the customer end.

MR. FALLIS:  Okay.  That'll relieve you of a lot of questions that I had, because I wanted to ask questions -- I think it is important, but maybe not from the point of view of this document.

Those will be my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Fallis.

Mr. Pappas, you had some questions?

MR. PAPPAS:  Yes, I do, Madam Chair. 

MS. NOWINA:  I will remind you as well, Mr. Pappas, that we are restricting our questions to the new documents that have been filed.

MR. PAPPAS:  Oh, yes.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
Cross-examination by Mr. Pappas:

MR. PAPPAS:  Well, I must say that fortunately some questions have been asked that will make it easier for me, since they were approached, or at least this way, partially approached.

Okay.  Where are we here?

Mr. Sabiston, okay.  We know that you were the -- you have been on this committee for four years.  Previous to that, have you been on any other NPCC committees, bodies, or is this the only time you spent?

MR. SABISTON:  Previously, I was a member of the task forces system study, so the answer is "yes".

MR. PAPPAS:  So another four years?


MR. SABISTON:  Four or five.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  So in all, about nine years?


MR. SABISTON:  And then previous to that, I was on a working group of the task force of system studies.  Overall, I have been involved with NPCC work since about 1990.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  So you would have a familiarity with just the history of recent times.


How long has Ontario been a member of the NPCC?


MR. SABISTON:  As far as my knowledge goes, Ontario Hydro has been a member of NPCC since 1965, which is when NPCC was formed.


MR. PAPPAS:  And that was the result of a major outage, was it not?


MR. SABISTON:  That was a result of the infamous November 1965 blackout; NPCC was formed.  And Ontario 

Hydro --


MR. PAPPAS:  Similar to the 2003?


MR. SABISTON:  Can you repeat the --


MR. PAPPAS:  Was it a similar extent as the one we had in 2003?


MR. SABISTON:  Are you referring to the 1965 blackout?


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  You said, like, that's when it started was at the 1965 blackout.  I said, Was that similar in extent to the blackout of 2003?


MR. SABISTON:  Similar in magnitude, in that it was more or less the same geographic area.


MR. PAPPAS:  Mr. Falvo, what is the IESO's role regarding transmission and generation?


MR. FALVO:  We are the system and market operator, so we direct the operation of the grid.  We dispatch the generation on a minute-to-minute basis and we settle the market.


MR. PAPPAS:  So would it be fair to say that, therefore, since you deal with both transmission and generation, that -- this sort of goes back to another question, but I have a reason for this.  You can basically speak to issues of either transmission or generation.  


You are not constrained like perhaps, you know, a generator or a transmitter would be?  You can speak to those matters and to those questions?


MR. FALVO:  Operationally, yes.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  Mr. Sabiston, although you are an employee of HONI, because you have had this involvement with the NPCC, I imagine that you are in the same position.  You have had to consider both matters of transmission and generation in your involvement with the NPCC, and, therefore, would you be -- would you also be capable of answering questions regarding either transmission or generation?


MR. SABISTON:  No.  I'm a member of NPCC representing a group called transmission owners.


As such, I am only qualified to talk from the viewpoint of a transmission owner.  Transmission owners do not own generation, so I am not qualified to speak about generation.


MR. PAPPAS:  The reason I ask is this, is obviously -- and you correct me if I'm wrong, but it seems to me these special protection units intimately involve both transmission and generation.  Would that be correct to say?


MR. SABISTON:  No.  The only involvement with generation is that it will open up a circuit breaker which trips a generator.  It does not get into the runnings of the generator or the impact on the generator being tripped.


MR. PAPPAS:  No, but it does involve -- it's not just on the transmission side.  There is an involvement between transmission and generation.


It isn't -- the two go together.  You can't drop the line and not drop the generator, more or less.  Would that be fair to say?


MR. SABISTON:  I don't think so.  Any connection with generation would be tertiary, at best.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay, thank you.  Now, we have been discussing the Bruce special protection system.  Could either of you advise me as to what the status of, perhaps, the Pickering special protection system is?


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair --


MS. NOWINA:  How is that relevant, Mr. Pappas?


MR. PAPPAS:  It gets very relevant, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, you will have to do that quite quickly, Mr. Pappas.


MR. PAPPAS:  It can be done very quickly, I believe.


MR. SABISTON:  There is no special protection system called the Pickering special protection system.


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.  Is there a Darlington special protection system?


MR. SABISTON:  There is a special protection system that can involve Darlington, but it's much, much, much, much smaller in scope than the Bruce special protection system.


MR. PAPPAS:  And is there any other special protection systems, Nanticoke, Lennox?  Any other generating facility, large generating facility, in Ontario that has special protection units?


MR. SABISTON:  Hydro One owns approximately 40 special protection systems of various sizes and shapes and magnitudes that involve either load facilities, transmission facilities and, in some instances, generation facilities.


MR. PAPPAS:  So would it be fair to say that the magnitude of the Bruce special protection system is far greater than the rest of the existing special protection systems in the province?


MR. SABISTON:  Yes, that would be a fair statement.


MR. PAPPAS:  You stated that there is one for Darlington, but it is very small?


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I am sorry, I must interrupt.  We are here to talk about Exhibit K12.4 and the documents that were circulated, Exhibits K10.3, 4 and 5.


I am not sure how my friend can relate those questions to those specific exhibits.


If I am missing something, please -- I am wondering if my friend could help.  I am not seeing how Darlington special protection systems relate to the information that was filed late on May 21st.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, I thought I made it clear what we're talking about here is the new material, because you have already had an opportunity to cross-examine.  So this is just on the new material.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes, ma'am.  My direction here is simply that we have to address the fact of a large and complicated special protection system.  We have to address the fact of whether or not this line is necessary to accommodate these things.


I just merely want to point out that not only in North America and on the NPCC itself, even in our province there is only one complicated special protection system, which is what this is all about, is this special protection system.  


So I just wanted to point -- I wasn't going very far with that.  That was the point I wanted to make, is there aren't any others.


MS. NOWINA:  Let me clarify it for you.  That line of questioning and the point, while relevant to the entire proceeding, perhaps, is not about the new evidence that was filed.  Those matters have been dealt with previously in the proceeding.


What we're dealing with here is only the new information, the few documents that were dealt with.  It is not an opportunity to cross-examine these witnesses again on matters that have already been cross-examined on.


MR. PAPPAS:  I realize that.  I am just trying to attach things to understand the relevance of the change in the SPS and the SPS itself, because we never dealt with that before.  I mean, all of a sudden we have a change in the SPS, and that's all I am trying to address.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  If you can keep it to the --


MR. PAPPAS:  That was as far as I was going with that, anyway.  I just wanted to establish that.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  Now, regarding these various contingencies, it seems -- or at least it seems clear to me, and you can correct me if I am wrong, in the -- because of the system, it is absolutely necessary to have the special protection system to protect against major contingencies, outages, ice storms, wind storms or even tornadoes.  


I mean, if the lines go down, that could cause major power flows to the lines that are still up, right, and then you would have to cut power off there?


MR. FALVO:  I think the main purpose of the special protection system is that the transmission is -- has been inadequate in the past.  We expect it to be inadequate until the line is in-service, and the special protection system avoids or reduces restrictions bottling to the generation.  That is a significant cost to Ontario with some increased level of risk, and we're trying to find a balance for that.

We are not adding it or requiring it simply because of -- if it was simply a very, very rare event, then we wouldn't be talking about a Type I SPS.  Right?  There is a different classification if it was intended solely for the extreme contingency, and it would be armed, again, much less frequently.

MR. PAPPAS:  You admit that it would be armed less frequently, but it would still be required to be there?  Because I am guessing that as rare as it may be, if it hits and we don't have some form of protection, the damages to the system could be much greater.

MR. FALVO:  But as Mr. Sabiston said, that's a matter of risk, and one of the ways of mitigating risk is to arm it only when necessary.

Again, we could, depending on the notice that we have and depending on the system conditions, we might be able to manage the system without having to arm it.  It depends how much generation is running and how much could be reduced in the time, the advance warning that we have.

So there are options there.

MR. PAPPAS:  Now, am I correct in recalling that it is armed at least 75 percent of the time?  Is that what I heard?

MR. FALVO:  We said in our submission that we expected it to be armed about 75 percent of the time in this interim period.

MR. PAPPAS:  I would like to refer the panel to the NPCC document, A2, page 1, the bottom of the page, "Introduction".

Starting, the paragraph that just starts before A and B describes the characteristics of a reliable bulk power system:
"To include adequate resources and transmission to reliably meet projected customer electricity demand and energy requirements as prescribed in this document, and include the consideration balanced relationship."


B:


"Consideration of a balanced relationship among transmission system elements to avoid excessive dependence on any one transmission circuit, structure, right-of-way, or substation."

And on the next page, C:
"Transmission systems should provide flexibility in switching arrangements, voltage control and other control measures."

I will just drop to the bottom of the page:
"Special protection system (SPS) shall be used judiciously and when employed shall be installed consistent with good system design and operating policy, and an SPS may be used to provide protection for infrequent contingencies or temporary conditions that may exist, such as project delays, unusual combinations of system demand and equipment, outages or availability --"

I guess that is supposed to be "of unavailability" --

"-- or availability or specific equipment maintenance outages.  An SPS may also be applied to preserve system integrity in the event of severe facility outages and extreme contingencies."

Which was the last one.

I would like to return to this matter of specific equipment maintenance outages.  Correct me if I am wrong, but I believe I heard you say earlier today that the IESO would not consider the use of generation rejection or SPS for a planned outage, such as maintenance on the line.

MR. FALVO:  I believe I said we wouldn't normally arm the load rejection for planned circumstances.

MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  Well, I have to ask -- correct me if I'm wrong -- but what I am reading here is that two of the main purposes of this is to allow those last two things, the ability to, say, cut off a major line so you can reconductor, add series capacitors or whatever else must be done, and the other, to protect system integrity, in case of wind storm or an ice storm.  At least, these two seem to be the major reasons for using these.

And correct me again if I am wrong, but from reading other documents from different electrical jurisdictions, that is about all they use them for.  Is that fair to say?

MR. FALVO:  Well, I am not sure about the other documents.  What I said is that we expect to use the special protection system in several of the circumstances that are identified here.

We don't accept the notion of relying on it as part of a long-term plan, when all of your facilities are in-service.  That to me, when you measure the quality of that plan, my assessment is that it is unacceptable when you have to rely on the special protection system with all of your planned facilities in-service.

MR. PAPPAS:  So would you say, then, it is perfectly appropriate to use it for an interim measure in order to upgrade a transmission line?

MR. FALVO:  Well, we have said that GR is being considered as one of the interim measures.

MR. PAPPAS:  But only considered?

MR. FALVO:  Well, it's being planned as one of the interim measures.

MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  Now, there is certain -- we have already gone over the certain other contingencies that are allowable, but -– well, let me ask this.  The contingencies that crop up that you are armed for 75 percent of the time, what are the basis of those contingencies?  Like, what is the nature of whatever it is that interferes, that you have to have the system armed for?

MR. FALVO:  It is the design criteria contingencies listed in section 5 of that document.

MR. PAPPAS:  Oh, yes.  But I am asking more directly.  Like, for example, they say if an element goes out.  Now an element could be, for whatever reason, a line is lost.

Now a line could be lost from weather, right?  Could a line not also be lost just because of even equipment failure, due to age or whatever?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.  They don't specify the cause.

MR. PAPPAS:  No, but I mean that's the kind of thing, right?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. PAPPAS:  Now, could -- so that also whether it is age or not, anything that would damage any equipment could cause the conditions that would require this being armed to protect against; is that not correct?

MR. FALVO:  Well, I suppose so.  Again, it just comes down to the things that you are exposed to and they're part of this design list.

MR. PAPPAS:  Well, I would imagine, therefore, such -- would such things as the lines being run at their thermal limits, carrying too much amperage, be conducive to damaging more sensitive things, devices and that, involved in the connections at the transformer stations, the transformers themselves?

Are these things all not at risk, if the lines -- if the thermal limits are appreciably overdone?  If the lines are getting too hot, if there is too much power going over the lines, thermal contingencies, do they not contribute to device failure?

MR. SABISTON:  Yes.  Yes.  That's one reason for the thermal limits, is to protect the asset.

Hydro One will not deliberately allow its assets to be operated above a number which is deemed to not excessively age its equipment.

If you run a conductor too hot for too long, the conductor will fail prematurely.  It will, what we call "age".  Instead of lasting for 100 years, the transmission line may only last for 20 years if you are continually stressing the conductor, which is one reason why we have thermal limits.

The same argument goes with transformers.

MR. PAPPAS:  Now, I recall - perhaps you won't, and I don't have the transcript handy, but I will try and count on your memory - earlier, during the first panel, one of the panel members - and it may have been you, Mr. Sabiston - was explaining about the thermal limits in figures, and we had asked about...


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, Mr. Pappas, let me interrupt.


Why are we going here?  Why are you asking these kinds of questions and what relation does it have to the NPCC documents we have been discussing?


MR. PAPPAS:  I am dealing with the criteria.  The SPS and the complexity of the SPS is dependent on the robustness, or lack thereof, of the system.


The less robust the system is -- and this is in evidence.  The less robust the system is, the more complex the SPS must be.  The more robust the system is, the less complex it has to be.  I am attempting to deal with these issues, because if the -- if the nature of the system is such that it is going to constantly be in a condition that puts devices at risk, then it is going to require a more complex and more costly SPS that must be armed most of the time.


If you take those things away, it does not have to be armed most of the time, and all you have to worry about is if you have appropriate forecasts for weather contingencies so you can be prepared to arm it, because you know it is coming, or, conversely, if you're going to do some reconstructing of a line, which you can plan much better than the weather, and just turn it off.


That's the point I am trying to make, is that we --


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Pappas, can you then put your questions to the panel so they can either verify or contradict your thesis, if you like?


MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.  I will shape it up.


Well, in that case, I would like to just divert from that; same thing, but I am just going to a different document.  I would like to go over to -- this is the evidentiary set 1.  It is the -- I believe it is the interconnection final.


MS. NOWINA:  We will need a reference, Mr. Pappas.


MR. PAPPAS:  Well, it is ES -- they will have it, but she will be bringing it up on the...


MS. NOWINA:  There we go.


MR. PAPPAS:  Now, if we can go -- it's a United Nations paper.


MS. NOWINA:  Can someone give us the reference for the record, please?


MR. MILLAR:  I think it was in one of Mr. Pappas's prefiled evidence packages, if I am not mistaken.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  It was just evidentiary set 

number 1.


MS. NOWINA:  So it was in your evidence, Mr. Pappas?


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  All right.  All right, Mr. Pappas, I will let it go a little while, but I am still having difficulty connecting it with the narrow scope of what we're hearing today.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  I am just trying to determine if there's measures, reliability measures, that can be taken that would enhance the system so we don't have to rely on such a complex SPS that has to be on all the time.


MS. NOWINA:  And how does that connect with the documents that we're discussing today?


MR. PAPPAS:  Well, the documents relate to changing the SPS, and the SPS itself.


I mean, before Hydro had brought this up, we had a certain consideration about the relationship of generation rejection with this project.  That has now changed.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  I want you to focus on what has changed in the documents we now have, all right?


MR. PAPPAS:  Hmm-hmm.


Now, when you were asked about this earlier, after you provided this information -- I can't recall who asked you the questions or not, but did you indicate that because of this change, and the change in generation rejection, that now you absolutely had to have a line, that generation rejection was not going to fulfil any -- well, basically I would imagine long-term capacity.  But you did not feel that it would support -- it couldn't be -- well, I guess we will go back to it.


You say it can't be used for long-term?


MR. FALVO:  Well, Mr. Pappas, I think I agree with some the things you are saying.


There is complexity in the special protection system.  That's not something we desire.  There is risk.  That's not something we desire.


We're going ahead with something that is an interim measure.  It is what we have said from the very beginning.


The line, as it is planned and proposed right now, will not be in service on time, so we have a period that needs to be managed.  The special protection system is one way, one of the pieces, to manage it.  


Mr. Chow has, many times, repeated several of the others, including the orange zone, and the like.


One of the things that you said earlier, of course the system isn't as robust as it could be, and that's why we need to rely on this, this interim period.


One of the best ways to make the system robust enough that we can significantly reduce the risk and reliance on this is to add another transmission line.


MR. PAPPAS:  I would like to jump ahead to page 28 of this document, the top of the page, please.  Thank you.


It is C, interconnection of power systems with weak grids:

"Not all interconnections take place between power systems in top technical condition.  In the developing world, many power systems bear the mark of age, poor repair and insufficient investment, ranging from corroded conductors and deteriorating insulation to leaking transformers, worn-out switch gear and a variety of inoperable equipment.  Equipment is often obsolete, and operations that are automated elsewhere may be carried out manually."


I won't bother to go further there.


MS. NOWINA:  What's your question, Mr. Pappas?


MR. PAPPAS:  That certainly describes a system that is not robust; would you agree?


MR. FALVO:  That's not a good system, I would agree.


MR. SABISTON:  It in no way describes the Hydro One system.  I fail to see the relevance with this and the Hydro One system.


MR. PAPPAS:  Mr. Sabiston, you were answering questions on the conductors before.


Can you tell me what year the ACSR was introduced in North America?


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, we have been there before.  The reference you just brought us to is about systems in developing countries.  We are really not on point.


MR. PAPPAS:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, but this isn't to where we were before.  This is important, because there was a statement made in a previous one.  I believe Mr. Ross had directed a question to the panel, and he had asked him about the state of technology of the conductors that they used the last time around, which was in 1994, and I believe the answer was -- and I will find it for argument.  It's in the -- but I believe the answer was that they believed it was the top technology at the time.


MS. NOWINA:  They may have.  Mr. Pappas, you can use it for argument.  It isn't relevant to what we are discussing today.


MR. PAPPAS:  I am at a loss, Madam Chair, because -- well, I could be wrong.


MS. NOWINA:  We're talking about today --


MR. PAPPAS:  My understanding is we're talking about this special system.


MS. NOWINA:  We are -- not broadly.  We have already examined the special system.


What we are talking about today are the documents that have been put before us in the last week or two, and the modifications we see in those documents compared to what the evidence was before.


We are not having a general and broad discussion about the system.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes, ma'am.  I guess the reason I am led in that direction is my -- my take on what I read was that this made a difference in the need for the line, and that's where I have argument.


MS. NOWINA:  And you can have argument, sir, but I am not certain that we need anything else on the record for you to do that.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  I will just slide through here anything else that I feel is relevant.


Because you have it armed so much, does that mean it is because there is a chance there will be a greater number of minor contingencies, that you expect greater number, otherwise you wouldn't have it armed that much?

MR. FALVO:  No.  It is because of conditions on the system that require the arming so that the generation can be delivered for the system, while protecting against the design contingencies that are in the criteria.

MR. PAPPAS:  Thank you.  I believe that is actually what I was trying to ask.

Now, if generation has to be cut back on a constant basis, does that economically affect the generator, the use of this SPS?

MR. FALVO:  If the generation has to be rejected.  I am not sure if I understand the question.

MR. PAPPAS:  Well, I guess what I'm asking is, my understanding is that the Bruce arrangement not only allowed for deemed generation for A, that they also managed to get deemed generation for B, which previously wasn't on a deemed generation contract.  And what I understand that to mean is that they're to be paid the full name plate capacity 24/7, whether or not that power can be delivered.

So the more times that the power can't be delivered, the more the ratepayers would be paying for the full value of the power required, what gets delivered.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, I am sorry.  Your line of questioning is not relevant.  You can --

MR. PAPPAS:  I will try it again.

MS. NOWINA:  You are just not getting there, Mr. Pappas.  Perhaps you don't have any questions that are relevant this afternoon.

MR. PAPPAS:  Maybe not.  I was, again, just hoping I was speaking to the complications that an SPS causes and hoping to reach some of those, because I don't believe that whether there is a change in the SPS or not, it is relevant to the approval or dismissal of the line.

I feel it is a -- that that whole issue is an unfortunate side issue, that -- well, it just doesn't scheme to be relevant to the line to me, and that is what I wanted to explore.  If answers could be given that would accommodate that, fine.

If it is absolutely irrelevant -- but I guess what I am concerned about is it would be really nice if this information had have been brought forward previously, as both of these panel members have been involved with the NPCC for years.  They have to know the NPCC's attitude on this for years.

And that's what I was after.

MS. NOWINA:  We have the information now, Mr. Pappas.  I think your questions weren't going to the point.

MR. PAPPAS:  I will just double-check.  I'll leave out anything else that is -- wanders.

I will give this a try.  I don't know how relevant this may be, but it does have to do with the issue --

MS. NOWINA:  Try to think about whether or not it is relevant before you ask it, Mr. Pappas.

MR. PAPPAS:  It is hard to tell with some of these.  I may think they are.  They may not be.  Then again, they may be.

Just for clarification, when you utilize the SPS and when you utilize generation rejection, how do you refer to the results of that?  What are the common names for the various results of employing the generation rejection?

MR. FALVO:  I am not sure if I understand the question.  We talk about arming it, and being --

MR. PAPPAS:  Okay, well, I will ask this:  Are the results of generation rejection commonly referred to as brownouts, blackouts, rolling brownouts and rolling blackouts; are those included in the effects?

MR. FALVO:  No.  I think you are talking about failures of things to operate that could lead to those circumstances.

MR. PAPPAS:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I understood that sometimes there had to be restrictions, these load rejection, in order to protect generation.  And you would have to cut back and therefore, certain areas would be subject to load rejection, which -- depending on how full it is -- might be a brownout or a blackout.

MR. FALVO:  Well, that would be a disconnection of specific loads.

MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  But that would be directly related to load rejection; is that correct?

MR. FALVO:  Yes, that's consistent with load rejection.

MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  Would you say that both the OPA and the IESO are directly responsible for recommendations to the Minister of Energy regarding reliability and these things?  I mean --

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas.  Mr. Pappas, what has that got to do with the NPCC documents?

MR. PAPPAS:  Oh, well, I was going -- I was going to get there, but it looks like there's too much of trying to get there for --

MS. NOWINA:  You're going to have to get there more directly, Mr. Pappas.

MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.

If you had some other ability to divert the power from the generators in planned contingencies, minor contingencies, off-peak hours, whatever, if you had it, would that be preferable to having to have a system that's got to shut generation right down?

MR. FALVO:  I think the only way that you can divert it in what you're thinking of is that the transmission system is robust enough that you don't have to take any action like tripping the generators.

MR. PAPPAS:  Mm-hmm.

MR. FALVO:  Like having an extra line, for example.

MR. PAPPAS:  But, just hypothetically, if you had a method of storing power, could you do that?

I mean I'm not saying you could do it.  But if you did, would that not be superior to the system that you've got here, because you wouldn't have to worry about anything?  In that, if you're diverting the power and it is not over-long wires and that, and could be safely diverted to store -- I mean, hypothetically, let's say you had great modern batteries in the future.  I don't care what it is.  If you could store power, would that be superior to this kind of system, just hypothetically?

MR. FALVO:  It is a hypothetical.  I guess you're proposing some other mechanism that would have to function very quickly and correctly.  I guess if I had it in front of me, I could tell you whether it is superior or not.

MR. PAPPAS:  Oh, no, I'm asking you that just to get -- the last thing I want to ask you about is RMRs.  Lennox has been put on an RMR contract, and I understand that that's something of a different but related -- different degree, but it is a related application, the reliability must run contracts?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. PAPPAS:  Could you -- I want to be sure I understand.  I am going to need you to explain it to me.  

It sounds like they've got to keep the generators running 24/7 and they're paid to do it.

MR. FALVO:  Not 24/7.  The OPG has made previous applications to the IESO to deregister those units.

MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.

MR. FALVO:  We have said that:  No, the system reliability would be at risk if those were deregistered.  So instead, since we can't make them, essentially, continue to operate unless they're somehow subsidized, there is a contract.

The contract simply requires them to continue to make the units available, and we direct their operation as the system requires.


MR. PAPPAS:  So just so I understand, are they in a position where they are being paid, but they're not generating, or are they being paid to be generating or at least on standby generating at all times?  I just need to understand the technical matter here.


MR. FALVO:  They're paid something.  I am not completely familiar with the terms of the contract.  I get to say why they're needed.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  So would you say that is for reliability and stability purposes?


MR. FALVO:  For reliability purposes.


MR. PAPPAS:  Is Lennox black start capable?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, can you relate this to the special protection system?


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  It is again a yes or no.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe you can tell me in advance, whether you get a yes or no, how it is related.


MR. PAPPAS:  Well, the simple concern here is that every time -- if the generators are right down, like, in a complete contingency, certain facilities cannot start producing power again.  Only some can produce power from within their own facilities.


The nature of this is because the generators, they don't use permanent magnets.  They haven't for, what, forever.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, how does it relate to the NPCC?


MR. PAPPAS:  It means that if the system fails, the government policy in that requires that these big nuclear stations gets power first and the rest of us wait.


If this system is in danger of crashing a lot, which is what is indicated in the paper, in the designation as a SPS 1, then it is putting the ratepayer at further risk.


MS. NOWINA:  I think you made a link.  Go ahead.


MR. PAPPAS:  There is normally the cost of the system.


MS. NOWINA:  No, no.  Ask the question.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  Now, is that not -- is it true that the wind power, the nuclear facilities and the large thermal facilities, such as Nanticoke, are not black start capable?


MR. FALVO:  I don't recall off-hand which ones are the specific black start facilities, but the IESO has an emergency restoration plan.


MR. PAPPAS:  I believe the main one is Niagara Falls; would you agree?


MR. FALVO:  No.  It is not the only one.


MR. PAPPAS:  It is the major one?


MR. FALVO:  There are several.  And the restoration plan requires that there are enough black start facilities around so that the priority objects of that restoration plan can be achieved, and that's getting to the priority 1 loads and the nuclear plants.


MR. PAPPAS:  Are the other ones in the south gas plants?


MR. FALVO:  As I said, I don't recall all of the facilities that are black start capable.


MR. PAPPAS:  I just mean in the southern part of Ontario.  I mean, there may be some up in Nanticoke, but I am just concerned with down here right now.


MR. FALVO:  As I said, I don't recall.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  So if these ones in the south are the black start -- well, let me back up a minute.  The ones that are black start capable, how do they come back -- how do they get re-energized?  What re-energizes their electromagnet so they can actually make electricity?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, you don't need to go to the level of detail to go to the point that you wanted to discuss.  So if you go more directly to the points that you wanted to get at, that would be very helpful.  We don't need the technical details.  We don't need to all know how black starts work.


MR. PAPPAS:  I appreciate your direction, and I am more than willing for you to continue to direct me if I get off track.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, I will.


MR. PAPPAS:  I am trying my best.


MR. FALVO:  Mr. Pappas, if I can help you.  As I said, I don't recall specifically where the black start capability is.  Niagara is one of them.  St. Lawrence is one of them.  Shell Falls near Ottawa is one of them.  There are several more.


The IESO emergency restoration plan is in place so that there are enough facilities and there are enough -- there are procedures in place so that the right elements of the priority loads and the nuclear plants can be restored within times that are expected.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  Would you say, therefore, then, if the bulk of those plants happened to be in the south, that when the wind plants and the nuclear generation plant need that kick start, the power basically has to come down south, bypass all of the major demand in the province, restart Bruce?  Do we start getting power right away once those generators are energized and turning?  Is there some other factor with the nuclear plant that would make that longer?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.  It takes time, and in some cases, depending on how long the units have been out of service.  I think Mr. Chow mentioned poison period.  So there can be an extended period.  We saw some of that in the 2003 blackout.


MR. PAPPAS:  So would you say it is entirely possible that the ratepayers could sit in the dark and cold for up to four days waiting for the system to come back on line if there is a major contingency, such as an ice storm?


MR. FALVO:  Well, everything is a possibility.  Nothing is 100 percent guaranteed.


MR. PAPPAS:  So I went to that extreme simply to put before you that situation, so I ask you again that in all these situations, whether it is all of this minor arming and minor contingencies that you might have to cut load for, or even when it is a major contingency, because of the way the system is operating, we are left with ratepayers who are paying a premium, but can't count on the delivery of that power.


MS. NOWINA:  Add a question, Mr. Pappas.  For example, "Is that true?", "do you agree?"


MR. PAPPAS:  Is that true?  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Is that true?


MR. FALVO:  I think you can count on the power.  We're talking about a special protection system that's going to have redundancy built in.  The contingencies are infrequent, and the purpose of those is to deliver as much of this power, nuclear and wind, as possible within reliability standards.


There is some risk.  None of it is risk-free, but that's the balance between using this SPS in this interim period, or not using it and restricting that generation entirely.


So that's a choice and a balance that we're making.


MR. PAPPAS:  Might I ask you, do you know if --


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, Mr. Pappas, can I stop you just for a moment?  I am going to give you 15 more minutes.


MR. PAPPAS:  Good enough.


MS. NOWINA:  And that is the extent of it.


MR. PAPPAS:  I appreciate it.  I will try to stumble through as quickly as I can.


MS. NOWINA:  Just 15 minutes.  So you might want to think about which questions are most important to you.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  Sorry, I lost my train of thought.  I get derailed easily.


I wasn't questioning the relying on the power, because obviously there are contingencies that can interfere.


What I was referring to was being able to rely on what we pay for.  If the generator is getting paid for full power all the time, every time that we're not getting full power we're at this -- that doesn't seem -- I understand why, but it doesn't seem appropriate to me that the ratepayer should have to pay for power they're not getting, if the planners could, instead, devise a system that would accommodate the extra power in that, in such a way that we are at least getting something for our money instead of paying for power we're not getting.


MS. NOWINA:  Add your question, Mr. Pappas.


MR. PAPPAS:  Do you agree?


MR. FALVO:  Well, I think Mr. Chow has devised that plan.  It's the new line with the GR in the meantime.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  So, finally, I will go to this.  In what way does the new line actually make the SPS less complex and not more so?


MR. FALVO:  Well, because it's not -- it wouldn't be required to withstand contingencies when all of the transmission is in service, and even when some transmission is out of service, the responses that might be required under those circumstances are likely to be much less complicated than the responses that we are contemplating now.

That means less complexity, that means less risk and consequence in failure, and just less overall complication in day-to-day use and scheduling of maintenance work.

MR. PAPPAS:  Do you not think it is also equally possible, but with all of that extra transmission line, extra devices, extra load and extra generation that is proposed and further proposed, that it is just simply going to add to the complexity?

MR. FALVO:  The transmission line is going to make things much better and much less complicated.  Clearly, it will do that.

MR. SABISTON:  Mr. Chow's plan with the new transmission line will reduce the frequency of arming, so that it's -- so that it's not armed nearly as frequently.

That will make the system less complex.  That will obviate the NPCC concerns about complexity and frequency of arming.

MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  I am almost done.

Because of the changes in markets, amongst other things, would you say that things such as line flow, loop flow, power flow, can lead to these contingencies that you are armed for?

MR. FALVO:  No.  I think the contingencies are a base -- are a consequence of the basic design of the power system, and the list that has been chosen -- this document was first made up in the '60s -- are from experience on the things that are -- that the system should be designed to withstand.  They're infrequent, but it is a matter of a balance of risk and consequence.

MR. PAPPAS:  Well, is it not now understood that the deregulated market and all of the other players in the system can financially influence the physics of the line so that you could have power not properly regulated, and that that can affect and cause contingencies on lines?

MR. FALVO:  Well, I think the power flows are dictated by the generation and load which is a consequence of the market, but I think power flowing through a line doesn't necessarily increase a contingency, the likelihood of a contingency of that line, unless it is overloaded and that is an operating criteria.  It is an operating rule.  We don't operate beyond allowable equipment limits.

MR. PAPPAS:  I was thinking back to, I believe it was Mr. Chow's comment or perhaps one of the other fellows, about the electrons going this way and going that way and indicating that power flows were, in fact, a concern.

MR. FALVO:  Well, the flows, as I said, are dictated by the generation load that is part of the market, yes.

MR. PAPPAS:  Part of the markets.

So any inappropriateness in load selling and buying, could that cause power flow and loop flow problems?

MR. FALVO:  Well, but they're all -- it causes variations in those things, but part of the planning and the design is to design the system that can accommodate a reasonable range of anticipated conditions.

MR. PAPPAS:  But at the end of the day, these can cause the contingencies that this arming is required for?

MR. FALVO:  No, I don't think the flows alone can cause the contingencies.

The contingencies are due to short circuits and equipment failures.  They're not due to the power alone.

MR. PAPPAS:  Well, would a power surge contribute?  Like a power surge because of a load, a big load change, could that not contribute to damage to that equipment?

MR. FALVO:  It would have to be awfully big and beyond something that we are designing for.

MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  No.  That's fair.  I just needed note that it could be, or not.

I guess I will wrap it up with this.  Would you say that anything that can deal with those issues would be making the system more robust?

MR. FALVO:  Sorry, I am not recalling which issues you're talking about.

MR. PAPPAS:  Anything that could cause these contingencies, anything that has to do with power flows, equipment that is used on the line.

If you can -- if you are capable of supplying a solution that will protect the devices and everything, wouldn't that, you know, be a first choice?

MR. FALVO:  That is part of the fundamental design, design a system that can withstand the representative contingencies.

MR. PAPPAS:  Finally, where would you place reliability in the hierarchy of desirable properties associated with the electrical system?  I mean, you know, with costs, this and that, where would you put reliability?

MR. FALVO:  Well, the whole goal of all of these is to provide the acceptable level of reliability, so you don't cross a certain minimum threshold.  You take actions that are practical and affordable.  Reliability doesn't come at -- it's not without costs in mind, but certainly there is a threshold that must be satisfied.

MR. PAPPAS:  Well, would you say that within reason, reliability must be the number one concern in the design of transmission systems?

MR. FALVO:  I look at it as a constraint.  It must be satisfied.  Then within that constraint, you try to find the most practical and cost-effective solutions that you can.  You don't go out and find the most expensive ones.

MR. PAPPAS:  Would you agree that if reliability is most important, that within reason, initial investment is not as important, the cost of the investment?

MR. FALVO:  I am not sure if I understand that.

MR. PAPPAS:  Well, I will put it this way:  If you design for greater reliability, if the design is more costly than some other designs, if it's more reliable and robust, wouldn't you say that it would be less depreciating?

It wouldn't depreciate as much -- if you're going to have more chances of problems, of equipment failure, of armed system, special protection units, if you had a system that might be somewhat costly, if it wouldn't have those happen or would constrain them to a minimum, would you not be saving money over the years by having the more reliable system?

MR. SABISTON:  I think I will go back to what -- NERC has dictated a level of reliability to which the power system should be designed, and then NPCC has criteria which meet the NERC criteria.

The goal of the utility is to design a power system that meets the reliability criteria as dictated by NERC and NPCC in the most cost-effective manner.

MR. PAPPAS:  Given that --

MR. SABISTON:  It's a balance of reliability and cost-effectiveness.

NERC has set the bar.  We will design up to that bar, but not exceeding that bar.  That is the goal of the cost-effectiveness of reliability and the design of the power system.

And by having a North American-wide standard of NERC, means that all utilities in North America are on a level playing field as far as the design of their power systems and the cost-effectiveness of their power system goes.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Pappas, you only have a couple of minutes --

MR. PAPPAS:  I have one last question.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay.

MR. PAPPAS:  So given that, you do agree, however, that our Transmission Code has a requirement level above that of NERC and NPCC?  Do you agree with that?

MR. SABISTON:  No.


MR. PAPPAS:  I guess I will have to bring it up.  I thought I would get a "yes".  I have it right here.


Excuse me, I know I have it.  There it is, okay.  I have actually presented this before.  It's the Ontario Energy Board Transmission System Code.  I have July 14th, 2000.  We also spoke about that, and Mr. Millar advised that the sections I read were no different than the newer one.


Okay, could we go to page 3, top of the page, please?


No.  That's not -- okay, I am looking for 1.2.3(a).  Maybe it is page 4.  No, it can't be.  Those are "2".


MS. NOWINA:  What page is it?


MR. PAPPAS:  It's either 4 or 2.  I've got the number, though it is 1.2.3(a), so they're all listed like that all the way through.


MR. MILLAR:  What does it say, Mr. Pappas?  You have the old version of it.


MR. PAPPAS:  There we go.  Okay, yes, this one is differently laid out.  You're right.  All right.  Now, throughout this whole document, good utility practice is mentioned again and again and again, but I will only deal with one so we can get this over with quickly.


MS. NOWINA:  So, Mr. Pappas, for the record, because I think -- so in the current version Transmission System Code, are you referring to section 2.0.33?


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes, I am 2.0.33 in this one, and it was 1.2.3(a) in mine:

"Good utility practice means any of the practices, methods and acts engaged in or approved of by a significant portion of the electrical utility industry in North America during the relevant time period, or any of the practices, methods and acts which, in the exercise of reasonable judgment, in light of the facts known at the time the decision was made, could have been expected to accomplish the desired result at a reasonable cost consistent with good business practice, reliability, safety and expedition.  Good utility practice is not intended to be limited to optimum practices, methods or acts to the exclusion of all others, but rather to include all practices, methods or acts generally accepted in North America."


That is a level, I believe, above that of NPCC and NERC, and it is a demand of our requirements.


MR. NETTLETON:  Is there a question there?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  What is your question, Mr. Pappas?


MR. PAPPAS:  Do you agree with that, that that is --


MS. NOWINA:  This is a definition, Mr. Pappas.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  And I want to know if they agree with the definition, because this is how they were supposed to review all of these different matters.  It was based on this.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, a couple of comments.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Nettleton.


MR. NETTLETON:  One is the 15-minute time limit is up.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. NETTLETON:  The second is that it appears that Mr. Pappas has a theory that NERC standards, or the statement made by Mr. Sabiston that he plans up to but doesn't exceed NERC, is inconsistent with good utility practice definition of the Transmission System Code that the OEB has approved.


That is, in my respectful submission, a matter for argument.  There is nothing that Mr. -- there is nothing preventing Mr. Sabiston from making that argument.


The record is clear.  Mr. Sabiston has stated his position, and it is up to Mr. Pappas to deal with it how he may choose to do so in final argument.


I am not sure we are going to get anywhere by having a discussion between Mr. Pappas and Mr. Sabiston about whether a definition that does not reference NERC at all as being consistent or inconsistent with the position that Mr. Pappas seeks to make and can make and no doubt will make in final argument.


So I am not sure that there is anything further that needs to happen in terms of cross-examination.


MR. PAPPAS:  No.  I will just finish up and just ask in a more straightforward fashion.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, Mr. Pappas, you said a while ago that you were on your last question.


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.  It's the same question, but I have to re-ask it, because obviously I asked it wrong, as Mr. Nettleton has pointed out.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton has pointed out that it is a matter for argument.  So you can ask your question, but before the panel answers it, I will decide whether or not it is appropriate.


MR. PAPPAS:  Okay.  I don't need him to agree.  I just would like to know if he believes that this is intended to be a further level above the requirements of NERC and NPCC.  Either he does or doesn't.  I don't need to go past that.  If he doesn't, he doesn't, and I can deal with it, but if I don't have an answer, I can't really deal with it in argument.


MS. NOWINA:  I think it might be most efficient if the panel quickly answered the question.


MR. SABISTON:  Okay.  So you're asking me if I believe that this is a further level above NERC and NPCC?


MR. PAPPAS:  Yes.


MR. SABISTON:  My answer is, no, I do not agree.


I believe that part of good utility practice is adhering to the NERC reliability criterion.  It is consistent with.  It is not above.  It is consistent with.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  You have your answer.


MR. PAPPAS:  The answer is fine and that will help me out for my final.  Thank you very much.  Thank you for your direction and your consideration and putting up with me.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Pappas.


Mr. Barlow, did you have questions?


MR. BARLOW:  I have a few questions.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, go ahead.  Your mike is not on, sir.

Cross-examination by Mr. Barlow:


MR. BARLOW:  I will try to make them short.  One is I would like to get the Board -- maybe get Hydro One to ask Bruce Power to really give us the scheduling on the refurbishment in dates and the out-of-service dates of 3 and 4 and when they're going to come on line, because we heard statements that we're going to have eight units on line and we know there is contracts out on units 3 and 4 for their refurbishment.


So it would be helpful if we had a schedule in front of us to know whether we have six units or seven units and back to six, or have we got eight?  That would be helpful, I think, in determining when we actually need to have a full utilization of all of the eight units.


Nobody can answer that and that's not the -- they have mentioned that several times to the Board, and I think that would be helpful for the Board and for the intervenors, the rest of us, to know what the actual scheduling is at the moment for those units to be repaired and brought back on.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, is that possible?


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, I was just discussing with one of my clients.  His recollection is that there is an undertaking that was made and answered to that effect, and I don't think there is anything that has changed since that undertaking was given.


If you give me a minute, I could find the undertaking and help Mr. Barlow by referring him to the exact undertaking, but I don't have it as my fingertips at the moment.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't you go ahead with that?  Mr. Barlow?


MR. BARLOW:  The next question I have is that on the SPSS -- SPS, who controls it?  Is it Hydro One or is it OPA?  Who is -- under whose jurisdiction when -- does that come under?


MR. FALVO:  The special protection system is owned by Hydro One, except for the parts of it that function at the generating stations that would be owned by Bruce Power or the respective wind farms.

The IESO directs the arming of that, so we would send either a signal or through a phone call to Hydro One to make appropriate selections, and to Bruce Power, let's say, for example, to make the appropriate selections at the station.  There is telemetry that gives us an indication of whether those selections have been made, and then we go on from there.

MR. BARLOW:  So given that you have got some new standards that you are trying to implement, is that documented, and where is it documented?  In your organization?  In Hydro One?  How is it documented so to make sure it is followed through?

Because obviously, there are changes, so if there are changes, how does that get implemented?  Is it in a document?  Because I think what you said previously is that it is an old system and it's not terribly well documented.  So this is --

MR. FALVO:  No, those are -- you're talking about operational procedures.

MR. BARLOW:  Yes.

MR. FALVO:  Those will be documented within each organization and they would be coordinated in terms of when any new procedure begins to be effective.

MR. BARLOW:  So are all of your organizations ISO-certified?

MR. FALVO:  I'm sorry?

MR. BARLOW:  Is your organization ISO-certified?

MR. FALVO:  Certified as what?

MR. BARLOW:  ISO 2000, 2004?

MR. FALVO:  Oh.

MR. BARLOW:  Do you have any certification at all?  You don't know.

MR. FALVO:  I'm sorry, I don't know.

MR. BARLOW:  Okay.

MR. FALVO:  I don't know that.

MR. BARLOW:  Do you know with Hydro One, is it certified?

MR. SABISTON:  I don't know.

MR. BARLOW:  Okay.

One other question.  On the wind farms, you have collected in the Shelburne Station within the SPSS, or SPS, is it connected to a 230- or a 500 kV line?

MR. SABISTON:  It is connected to a 230 kV line.

MR. BARLOW:  Okay.  Why would it be part of the SPS, then, since it's more closer to Orangeville than it is to the Bruce system?  I was trying to understand why this was included in the overall program.

MR. FALVO:  Well, the line that it is connected to is one of the lines that would be carrying all of the extra power if the Bruce-to-Milton line were to fail.

And so having that wind farm as one of the actions, would be able to manage in the event that that circuit would be overloaded.

MR. BARLOW:  And just an overall one:  Why was this special protection system put in place initially and when was it done?  Was it when Bruce was first put in, or when Douglas Point was in operation?

MR. SABISTON:  Okay.  I believe that I testified earlier that there have been three generations of the Bruce special protection system.

The first generation was installed in and around 1976, which is before I joined Ontario Hydro, so the special protection system has been around for a long time in various shapes and forms.

The current SPS -- which I term the third generation 
-- has been in-service since 1990 or 1991.

MR. BARLOW:  You keep talking about Type I.  How many types of special protection systems are there?

MR. SABISTON:  Okay.  Within NPCC jargon, there are three different types of special protection systems.  They are known as Type I, Type II and Type III.

Type I is a type which -- whose mis-operation can have impact outside of your local area, that is outside of Ontario.

A Type II SPS is one that is armed for extreme contingency events, and a Type III SPS is one whose mis-operation will have only local impacts.

MR. BARLOW:  The last question is that there has been a lot of PR coming out of Bruce lately, with citizens' group pushing for Bruce C in addition to Bruce A and B.

Would the items that you are trying to implement now as an interim and to handle this line, if it goes through, would they be adequate to handle a Bruce C?  Or would that have to be totally reconfigured again?  Because --

MR. SABISTON:  That would be a question better addressed to the Ontario Power Authority.  I can't speak on their behalf.

MR. BARLOW:  Okay.  That's all of my questions.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Barlow.

I believe we have everyone except Mr. Millar; is that correct?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I have a few questions but I don't expect to be terribly long.
Cross-examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  I am going to be referring to Exhibit K12.1, which is the document we filed today.

I would ask you to start by turning to page 27 of that document.  That's the oft-referred to May 16th letter to Mr. Sabiston.

On both page 1 and 2 of that letter, the TFSS notes a concern about what might happen if the SPS fails to operate, and just for example, the second sentence says:
"TFSS agrees that mis-operation of this SPS is not significant.  However, failure of this SPS to operate when required may have inter-area consequences."

I take it, what they mean by that is, if the SPS is armed and a contingency occurs, what they're discussing there is if for whatever reason the SPS fails to operate; is that what they mean?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Inter-area consequences sounds ominous.  I take it -- you have sort of discussed this before -- it means it would have consequences beyond the local area?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And potentially stretching through Ontario or even into Michigan or New York, something like that?

MR. FALVO:  They mean outside it.  In NPCC jargon, when they capitalize the word "area", they really mean outside of a control area, a historic control area that would be Ontario, New York, New England, Quebec.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

You were just discussing the current SPS system.  I guess there have been a number of them, but they have been in place for many years.  I think we have heard before that system has been armed fairly frequently, but am I right that it has never actually been tripped, the existing SPS?

MR. FALVO:  I think we mentioned that we know, at least, of the one time –-


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I'm sorry.

MR. FALVO:  -- in 1985 with the tornado.

I believe there may have been one or two others, but I don't recall the specifics of those over the years.

MR. MILLAR:  Are there any instances where the current SPS has failed to trip when it was supposed to?

MR. FALVO:  I don't recall any.

MR. MILLAR:  Is it possible to find that out?

MR. FALVO:  I think there was an interrogatory.  I don't think there were any records of that.

MR. SABISTON:  To the best of my knowledge, the current incarnation of the Bruce special protection scheme has never failed to operate when required to do so.

MR. MILLAR:  There would be a record of that if it happened?

MR. SABISTON:  Yes, there would be a record of that and there would have been a huge investigation.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so you would know if that had happened?

MR. SABISTON:  Yes.

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you don't know that it's happened?  Okay.  Thank you.

Sticking with this letter, if we look at the second paragraph, it discusses some concerns, it says, with, "the complexity of the SPS, and the consequences of its failure to operate."

So is the proposed SPS more complex -- that's the word they use -- more complex than the current iteration?

MR. SABISTON:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And have you done any analysis to determine if, resulting from this complexity, it is more likely to fail to trip than the current SPS?  Have you looked into that?

MR. SABISTON:  To the best of my knowledge, we have not looked into that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you don't know if it is more likely to fail to trip than the current system?

MR. SABISTON:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Mr. Pape got into this a bit, but I am not sure if I have the answer clear.  Can you confirm for me when you need this new SPS to be up and running by, what date you have?

MR. FALVO:  Well, this discussion at NPCC talked about a variety of things, the function to trip the wind farms, and some of that work is expected to be completed, I think we heard, before the end of this year.  And some of the -- one of the new wind farms, I think, was scheduled to come on near the end of this year.

So that would be the earliest that that function would be needed.  Some of the other newer functions, I think, were scheduled to be -- the work for those is scheduled to be completed in, was it 2010 for the SPS?

MR. SABISTON:  Yes.  The SPS modifications, according to the planning specification, which we talked about earlier this morning, are scheduled to be complete sometime in 2010.

As Mr. Falvo stated, the wind farm GR portion for the Melancthon wind farm is ready to operate.  For the other wind farms, will be ready to operate later this year.

MR. MILLAR:  And the rest, the balance would be completed and up and running in 2010?

MR. SABISTON:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Early 2010?  Late 2010?  Or is it possible to get more specific than 2010?


MR. SABISTON:  The -- we are working with two dates.  We are working with a guaranteed delivery date of the fall of 2010, and we also have a best effort date of May 2010.  So engineering and construction will try to make 2000 -- May, but they caution that it may not be possible until October.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So in order for the near-term and interim measures to work, as you have applied for, it has to be ready by I guess, at latest, fall of 2010?


MR. SABISTON:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  What happens if NPCC doesn't approve what you have asked for?


MR. SABISTON:  If NPCC does not approve our modifications, what it effectively means is we cannot deploy the new features of the special protection system.  Because it is an existing scheme that has existing approval, we can continue to deploy the existing portion, but we would not be permitted to deploy the new portions.


MR. MILLAR:  So what would that mean to you?  What would that mean for the near-term and interim measures?


MR. SABISTON:  Effectively, one of the interim measures is not available.


MR. MILLAR:  And what -- would you have to undertake activity to compensate for that?


MR. SABISTON:  The system would not be able to be run at such a high generation level.  There would be more -- presumably there would be more constrained generation.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that's what I had guessed the answer would be.  It would probably lead to increased constraining.


When you were discussing this with Mr. Pape earlier, I take it -- and from reading the e-mails and whatnot, it seems these applications are -- it's not like an application before the Board where you apply and you find out the answer, whatever, you know, six, eight, ten months, a year in this case, later.  


It seems to be more of an iterative process here; is that right?  You seem to get feedback throughout the process.  Is that a fair characterization?


MR. SABISTON:  Are you describing the NPCC approval process?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, yes.  To be clear, the NPCC approval process.


MR. SABISTON:  The only reason why I am getting feedback through the process is because I am the chair of one of the task forces.


If I was not the chair of that task force, I would not have received that letter.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.  So normally there would be an application, and then I guess however long later get an answer.  You don't get a pre-answer or a decision where they tell you there might be problems with X, Y and Z?


MR. SABISTON:  That's correct.  The Hydro One representatives on NPCC would have a pre-notion that something wasn't going right, but because I happen to be chair, I received this notice, this early notice.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And this notice -- and I guess they expressed certain concerns with this.  This hasn't led you to alter your SPS application; is that correct?


MR. SABISTON:  No.  We are not planning on -- IESO is not planning on altering the application.


MR. MILLAR:  And are you still anticipating having an answer by November?  Is that what you're -- what you think NPCC is targeting, with a yea or nay to this SPS?


MR. SABISTON:  I would expect that by November it will have made it through -- it would have made it to the RCC committee, the reliability, coordinating committee for a file determination.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Just, again, one follow-up on a question that Mr. Pape had, and I wasn't sure I got the answer.  He was asking you about series compensation and whether or not the current SPS would have to be altered in any way, if you went ahead with series compensation.


I wasn't sure I got the answer.  Let me just ask you.  Let's imagine you had decided to go forward with series compensation.  Does the current SPS application have to be amended in any way, or would this work with series compensation, as well?


MR. FALVO:  Well, I think what I said is that based on the series compensation study that we had, and what we had originally anticipated as being the series compensation plan, I believe this design would be sufficient.  


But as we have heard, Mr. Woodford has said there are several studies he would recommend that take place, and depending on the final outcome and perhaps the final design, I'm saying there is a possibility, although I would suspect not a strong possibility, that there might be a change.


MR. MILLAR:  So probably not, is the answer?


MR. FALVO:  Probably not, I think is the best way to say it.


MR. MILLAR:  Imagining you were going forward with series compensation and Mr. Woodford did suggest you had to make some sort of adjustment, I know it is very difficult to speculate, but is it -- how long would it take to -- how much time would it add to the process to amend your application?  


I realize that is speculative, because you don't know what Mr. Woodford might say.  Are you able to give an indication as to how long that might add to the time process?


MR. FALVO:  Our application to NPCC, you're asking?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, to NPCC.


MR. FALVO:  I think probably a longer time period would be to assess -- we're talking about a design change that would be required because of something that came out of those studies.  It would probably be more -- a more critical item to determine what that change is and how long it would take to actually design and construct, and the application in this process could probably proceed in parallel, knowing what the design would be.


MR. MILLAR:  So -- but would it add time to the process or not?


MR. FALVO:  I would -- we would probably try to schedule it in parallel and you'd see -- you might very well see something in a similar time frame for what we're seeing today.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  I just have one final area.


If I could ask you to turn to page 17 of this same exhibit, K12.1, this is part of the system impact assessment report.  You will see there is a paragraph, about four up from the bottom, that starts with, "Since the SPS has also been designed..."  The last sentence of that paragraph says:  

"By selecting both loads and generation units for simultaneous rejection, the resource deficiency within Ontario could thereby be managed to ensure that the resulting transfers into the province via the interconnections with our neighbouring utilities would remain within the agreed 1,500 megawatt limit."


Do you see that?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Just to take a quick step back, I understand that if an SPS actually triggers generation rejection, you need to pretty much instantaneously replace that generation; is that correct?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I understand that Ontario and other jurisdictions maintain something that's called a spinning reserve.  Are you familiar with that term?


MR. FALVO:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me what "spinning reserve" is?


MR. FALVO:  Spinning reserve essentially is the capacity on generating units that are operating that's not currently being utilized and is available to be activated within ten minutes.


MR. MILLAR:  Is this the type -- is this the type of thing you would use if a generation rejection event actually occurred, was triggered?


MR. FALVO:  Well, that ten minutes wouldn't instantly balance.  The instantly balance comes from the inertia of all the rotating machines on the system.


I think to help you in understanding that statement, the one before that gives you a clarification.  It says:

"The SPS has also been designed to respond to conditions where it could be necessary to reject more than two units."


So, in that circumstance, the second sentence is saying if we needed to reject more than two units - so if the circumstance dictated it - the SPS has the functionality, then we could also -- we would also be able to select load so that the net imbalance in Ontario is no more than 1,500.


Then the rest of the interconnected system, the whole eastern North America, the inertia that is spinning on the system at that time would make up that slight imbalance until the reserve that you have talked about can be activated in a minutes' time frame.  So Ontario becomes zero balanced again.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That is very helpful, actually.  Thank you.  So I take it, then, that what that means is that Ontario -- I guess there is some sort of agreement whereby we can draw on up to 1,500 megawatts of this reserve power, for lack of a better word, from other jurisdictions?


MR. FALVO:  There is an agreement going back from the earlier versions of the SPS not to expose the interconnected system to an imbalance that is greater than the 1,500.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


Would most of that power come from Michigan and New York?


MR. FALVO:  Well, it comes through those, but it would come from all of the interconnections.


MR. MILLAR:  I should have been more specific.  Through Michigan or New York?


MR. FALVO:  Through both of them.


MR. MILLAR:  What about Manitoba or Quebec?  Would any come through there?

MR. FALVO:  A little bit from Manitoba.  It's in somewhat proportion to the strength of the transmission systems and where all of the other generators are.

MR. MILLAR:  You're familiar with the new Quebec intertie that they're building?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand that's scheduled to be completed in about 2009, if I am not mistaken?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And that will allow an additional 1,250 megawatts into Ontario from Quebec; is that right?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Does that affect the 1,500 megawatt limit?  Will that increase the amount that we can draw on from other jurisdictions?

MR. FALVO:  No.  That interconnection is designed with what's called a back-to-back AC/DC connection, and so that is essentially electronics.  You can think of it as electronics that are connecting two grids together.

So it is got very fast and very tight control of the power.  It essentially keeps the power constant at whatever has been scheduled to be transferred between the two areas.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, but so the answer is, that will not increase the amount of 1,500 megawatts?

MR. FALVO:  No, you are right. It won't increase it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

Thank you, gentlemen, those are my questions.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Nettleton, redirect.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair, just a few questions.
Re-examination by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Falvo, I just wanted to follow up on a question that Mr. Millar asked regarding the feedback that applicants receive through the NPCC approval process, first.

Can you confirm that it is the IESO who made application or is responsible for making application to the NPCC for amendments or modifications to the SPS?

MR. FALVO:  Yes, it was the IESO.

MR. NETTLETON:  All right.  And Mr. Pape indicated on page 28 of the Exhibit K12.1, that your direct reports have been cc'd on the final letter; correct?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Falvo, have you made application similar to the one that you made in respect of this exhibit before, to the NPCC?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Can you comment on whether the IESO has received feedback as applicant to the NPCC in respect of approvals regarding NPCC requirements?

MR. FALVO:  We have.  As you can see in that cc list, the first one is the task force itself, and we are a member of that task force.  So normally I would see that correspondence.

The reason the other staff members were there is because they were the participants that provided the documentation, and actually, Ioan was the one that presented it.  So he is not normally on the -- actually, he is on the task force list as well.

So I think Dave Conroy was just including him because he was the author of the original letter.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Falvo, your SIA report -- which is found at page 16 of the Exhibit K12.1 -- that was provided to the TFSS committee?

MR. FALVO:  No.  I don't believe that was.

MR. NETTLETON:  Maybe you can help me understand what was presented to the committee.

MR. FALVO:  I believe just the documentation that was included in the earlier exhibit.  I think it was K10.4.  That was the letter from Ioan to Mr. Sabiston as chair of the TFCP, and then that accompanying report.

MR. NETTLETON:  You can confirm with me, sir, that that report did not make reference to Mr. Woodford's due diligence report; correct?

MR. FALVO:  I believe that is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Woodford's due diligence report was not presented to the NPCC?

MR. FALVO:  I believe that is correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  On page 27 of the Exhibit K12.1, the TFSS, on paragraph 2, indicates that there is complexity with -- there's a concern about the complexity of the SPS, correct?

MR. FALVO:  That's right.

MR. NETTLETON:  To your knowledge, Mr. Falvo, -- well, first, Mr. Falvo, the IESO did not commission Mr. Woodford's report; correct?

MR. FALVO:  That's correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  The information that we have, that you are aware of now through this process, can you comment on whether the introduction of series compensation is likely to increase or decrease the complexity, the operational complexity of the transmission system in Ontario?

MR. PAPE:  Madam Chair, I object to this line of questioning.

These questions were asked and answered when this panel was first presented, and they were cross-examined on these things and nothing new was brought out.  He doesn't get a second bite.

MS. NOWINA:  Good point, Mr. Pape.

They don't relate to the changes in the documents, I don't believe, in the new document.

MR. NETTLETON:  I believe, Madam Chair, my friend, Mr. Pape, raised the Woodford study specifically.  And that's what I was referring to, as did Mr. Millar.

And I am following up on those -- on that line of enquiry about whether Mr. Woodford's study was something that Mr. Falvo had in mind when this application was made.  I think it is highly relevant to the outcome of the question of series compensation that was raised by my friend in his line of cross.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Go ahead.

MR. PAPE:  That's not the question, with respect, Madam Chair, that is not the question that he just asked.

MS. NOWINA:  So if you can stay closely to the questions that Mr. Pape asked and Mr. Millar asked related to the Woodford studies –-


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, both Mr. --

MS. NOWINA:  -- then that would be helpful.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  I will do my best, Madam Chair.  I don't have the transcript, obviously, because of this proceeding.

You will recall, Mr. Falvo, when Mr. Millar and when Mr. Pape asked you questions regarding Mr. Woodford's study; correct?  Do you recall that?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Can you comment on whether series compensation, the subject matter of Mr. Woodford's report, is likely to add to or detract from operational complexities to the Ontario power grid?

MR. PAPE:  Madam Chairman, I am sorry, but in-chief, Mr. Nettleton asked that very question:
"Sir, is it the case that the addition of series compensation will cause more or less operational complexity, in your view?
"Answer:  I would expect it to cause more."

And there was cross-examination that went on from there that tested that, but they did not raise new issues.

He is going back to issues that he canvassed in-chief, and he has no basis for rebuttal.

MR. NETTLETON:  I will move on.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. NETTLETON:  I just want to clarify with you, Mr. Falvo, as I am not clear as to the statistics that have been put on the record regarding the arming of the SPS.

Just so that the record is clear, is it the case that the BSPS system today is armed at approximately 60 percent of the time?  Is that your evidence?

MR. FALVO:  Yes, I believe there is an interrogatory that has a graph that shows the hours for the last three years.  I can't recall what that one is.

MR. NETTLETON:  And from this document, K12.1, the evidence is that during the time in which the near-term and interim measures are deployed, your evidence is that they will be armed at least at 75 percent of the time?

MR. FALVO:  Yes.  That is my expectation.

MR. NETTLETON:  And what I am not clear on, Mr. Falvo, is what is the proper comparative statistic if the Bruce-to-Milton line is constructed and operated?  What percentage are you the BSPS system to be armed?


MR. FALVO:  We didn't assess a percentage.  I would expect it to be significantly less.


MR. NETTLETON:  Can you provide a range?


MR. FALVO:  I would speculate less than half of the time, and then the responses selected would be much less complicated than what we're expecting now.  It would all depend on the maintenance work that drives the need for that.


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Mr. Falvo.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  The Board Panel has no questions.  That completes the examination of this panel, again.


Thank you very much, gentlemen, for your help and all of your work over the last few weeks.


Do you have anything else?

Procedural matters:


MR. NETTLETON:  I have two things, Madam Chair.  One is I have found the undertaking that I referred to.  It is undertaking J4.1.  It was made to -- it was provided to Mr. Pape.


The undertaking indicates that by the end of 2008, all Bruce units will be operating and will be operating within annual average net electrical output of 820 megawatts.  


The undertaking goes on to describe the change from the 820 megawatt to 850 megawatt output of Bruce B as a result of changes in fuel cell, and the status of that change and how it relates to the sequencing of the Bruce A units.  


So that is the undertaking that I was referring to.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. NETTLETON:  Madam Chair, there is one other matter that Mr. Fallis has raised in a letter requesting expedited costs.


For the record, Hydro One does not oppose the fact that Mr. Fallis has made an expedited request of interim costs.


Hydro One's only submission, in respect of those interim costs, relate to the fact that the -- the costs ought to be considered -- the costs claimed ought to be considered in regard to the Board's practices and standards, and the reasonableness of those costs should be assessed based on the assessment and in compliance with those guidelines.


There does seem to be two issues of concern.  The first relates to the hourly rate that Mr. Brill has charged his client and the hourly rate that Mr. Fallis's cost claim now is suggesting to be assessed at.


The second issue is related to the issue of travel time, but those are two things that I am sure the Board can address or consider.  Hydro One just raises those as items of curiosity or concern that the Board may wish to consider.


In terms of timing of payment, Mr. Fallis had indicated that the timing of that award is -- is imperative that he have some direction from the Board and, indeed, payment of those amounts prior to Mr. Brill's attendance, which, as I understand it, was intended to occur next Wednesday, June 4th.


Hydro One had understood, from the Board's interim cost letter that was distributed, that there was a process established that June 2nd would be the time in which Hydro One could make a reply.  Again, Hydro One takes no exception to the request and reasons stated by Mr. Fallis to expedite that.


The only concern that we have, in terms of timing, is that Hydro One does have a billing cycle and an accounting process, and it is not in any position to be able to cut cheques to address any award that the Board may or may not make by the time period that Mr. Fallis has prescribed; that is, 48 hours from today.


What we would -- what we are -- have no objection to is the Board making a determination of the request that has been filed by Mr. Fallis, but in terms of payment, that is something that would have to follow the normal course, but I would think that the -- any assurance that a decision of this Board would have would provide Mr. Brill with the level of comfort he would need or would want in respect of incurring a credit card cost.


Those are my respectful submissions, and I am sorry to belabour that, but I think given that time is of the essence, I wanted to put those on the record for you.


MS. NOWINA:  We will respond to that, and then if Mr. Fallis wants to add any comments, he may.


We have Mr. Fallis' letter and we are prepared to give an early order of costs in order to assist him.  It is unusual and we will, in the decision, note that and why it is unusual and why we don't expect it to happen again.  And you will see that in our decision.  And, of course, it has to follow our guidelines.  


All cost awards have to follow our guidelines, and that will be in our decision, as well.


In terms of -- once the Board has done that, we have done our part of responding to Mr. Fallis's request, and how and when the money flows is no longer our responsibility, in my opinion.


So that is our plan, and we certainly hope to get that decision out to you probably tomorrow, Mr. Fallis; if not tomorrow, Friday.


MR. FALLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I don't have anything to add to the...


Thank you, Madam Chair.  I don't have anything to add to the submission itself.  I think it was fairly complete, other than the wanting of an affidavit, but finding somebody at midnight to sign it, to swear, was kind of hard in my small town.


Anyway -- but it is there.  I think it is self-explanatory.  The only thing that I would add is if the Board sees fit to expedite, the word "forthwith" would be a nice word to have with it, so at least it gives comfort to the other side, as well.


We are unusual in the sense Mr. Ross's clients and mine are individuals.  We are not a group.  It is -- to gather resources is not an easy task, and we work with a budget, too, so that's why, you know, it got extended.  


And Thursday -- we all saw that a week ago Thursday.  Mr. Brill was here, came to testify and left without saying a word.


So, you know, costs -- and he prepared himself as expeditiously as he could.


MS. NOWINA:  I understand.  Mr. Fallis, not just for you, but for other parties going forward, because some of you, this is your first time before the Board, I urge you to read the Practice Direction before you submit your costs.  That is going to save time and it is going to enable you to understand what kinds of costs you should expect to see compensated for.  


So please read them in advance, and they do require the affidavit.  So you will find that in the guidelines.


MR. FALLIS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Just talking about schedule, then, very briefly, our next hearing date is a week from today, next Wednesday.


We expect on next Wednesday, then, for Mr. Brill to be here; is that right, Mr. Fallis?


MR. FALLIS:  I will certainly talk to him tonight, so...


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Then the other -- Mr. Klippenstein, your expert?


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  After discussion with counsel, my understanding now is that Mr. Fagan and Mr. Lanzalotta, on behalf of Pollution Probe, will testify on that date, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Good.


MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  If that is acceptable.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  And, Mr. Pape, your expert, then?


MR. PAPE:  Mr. Russell will be here to give his evidence in-chief on the next week.


MS. NOWINA:  The 11th?


MR. PAPE:  The 11th.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  We are now adjourned.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:08 p.m.
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